University of Texas at El Paso ScholarWorks@UTEP

**Open Access Theses & Dissertations** 

2019-01-01

## Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation: A Novel Treatment Intervention for Improving Metabolic Health in an Overweight/ Obese Population

Michelle J. Galvan University of Texas at El Paso

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.utep.edu/open\_etd

Part of the Kinesiology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Galvan, Michelle J., "Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation: A Novel Treatment Intervention for Improving Metabolic Health in an Overweight/Obese Population" (2019). *Open Access Theses & Dissertations*. 2854. https://digitalcommons.utep.edu/open\_etd/2854

This is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UTEP. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact <a href="https://www.web.access.org">www.web.access.org</a> by a scholarWorks@UTEP.

## NEUROMUSCULAR ELECTRICAL STIMULATION: A NOVEL TREATMENT INTERVENTION FOR IMPROVING METABOLIC HEALTH IN AN OVERWEIGHT/OBESE POPULATION

### MICHELLE JOSIE GALVAN

Master's Program in Kinesiology

APPROVED:

Sudip Bajpeyi, Ph.D., Chair

Jason Boyle, Ph.D.

Jeffrey Covington, M.D., PhD

Stephen L. Crites, Jr., Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School Copyright ©

by Michelle Galvan

2019

### Dedication

I dedicate my thesis work to my family and friends; whose support was unwavering. To my parents, thank you for always providing me with a home to come to, a place where I can focus on my studies, and providing me with unconditional love and support.

To my father who never stopped believing in me and always told me he was proud of me every chance he got. I am saddened by his passing just before my last semester and wish deeply he could witness my accomplishment. Although something tells me he already knew may you rest in peace.

To my siblings for always keeping me in line and staying by my side in support.

To Eric, for always being there no matter what. Staying by my side at the UTEP library for hours

on end. Thank you for supporting me, believing in me and never letting me give up.

To Dr. Bajpeyi, for providing countless feedback and making my thesis a priority.

## NEUROMUSCULAR ELECTRICAL STIMULATION: A NOVEL TREATMENT IN INTERVENTION FOR IMPROVING METABOLIC HEALTH IN AN OVERWEIGHT/OBESE POPULATION

by

### MICHELLE JOSIE GALVAN, B.S.

### THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at El Paso in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

### MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Kinesiology THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT EL PASO December 2019

#### Acknowledgements

This thesis is not possible without the guidance and support from my committee members, Dr. Sudip Bajpeyi, Dr. Jason Boyle, and Dr. Jeffrey Covington. Thank you, Dr. Boyle for always providing me with encouragement and advice. Thank you, Dr. Covington for always providing quick feedback on participant eligibility and providing me with information to improve my thesis. I want to thank you all for your patience and support, especially during my, very intense, last semester here at UTEP.

The early morning data collection would not be possible without the help of all my lab mates, especially Michael Sanchez, Isaac Gandara, and Dante Nacim, thank you all. Many back to back early morning data collections will not be forgotten. In addition, I would like to thank Victoria Rosas for her unwavering support and positive attitude. You provided me with additional strength to complete my thesis as we often passed each other in the lab during our last, very hectic, semester. Thank you all for everything. I would also like to thank everyone in the biomechanics lab for accommodating me in their lab. I am greatly thankful for funding from the Dodson Research Grant and College of Health Sciences Applied and Translational Research Funds to make this study possible.

Lastly thank you Dr. Bajpeyi. Your willingness to put students first made my thesis completion possible. I am grateful to you for teaching me what it means to have good quality research. Thank you for always providing me with every research opportunity possible, had you not I would not have strong certainty that I could continue my academic career and obtain a Ph.D. if I wanted to. Thank you.

#### Abstract

Background: Most U.S. adults (80%) do not meet minimum exercise recommendations by ACSM (CDC, 2015). Using an in vitro primary cell culture model, we and others have shown that muscle contraction induced by electrical stimulation results in increased glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) protein, glucose uptake and mitochondrial content. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) is a novel alternate strategy to induce muscle contraction, using electrical impulses. However, effectiveness of NMES induced muscle contraction to improve insulin sensitivity and energy expenditure is not clear. The purpose of this study was to investigate the effects of four weeks of NMES on insulin sensitivity in a sedentary overweight/obese population. **Methods**: Sedentary overweight/obese participants (n=10; age:  $36.8 \pm 3.8$  years; BMI=  $32 \pm 1.3$ kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were randomized into either a control or NMES group. All participants received bilateral quadriceps stimulation (12 sessions; 30 minutes/session; 3 times/week) either using low intensity sensory level (control) or at high intensity neuromuscular level (NMES) for four weeks (50Hz and 300µs pulse width). Insulin sensitivity was assessed by three-hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), substrate utilization was measured by indirect calorimetry and body composition was measured by dual X-ray absorptiometry at baseline and after four weeks of NMES intervention. **Results**: Control and NMES group had comparable fasting blood glucose (p=0.42), glucose tolerance (p=0.49), substrate utilization (p=0.99), and muscle mass (p=0.86) at baseline. Four weeks of NMES resulted in a trend to improvement in insulin sensitivity measured by OGTT, whereas no change was observed in control group (Control  $430.73 \pm 20.23$  to  $494.68 \pm 77.21$ AU; p=0.76; NMES  $455.55 \pm 26.07$  to  $415.36 \pm 25.89$  AU; p=0.07). There was no change in substrate utilization in control (p=0.26) and NMES (p=0.85). In addition, there was no change in muscle mass in both control (p=0.14) and NMES (p=0.17) groups. Conclusion: NMES is a novel and effective strategy to improve insulin sensitivity in an at-risk overweight/obese sedentary population in the absence of substrate utilization and muscle mass improvement.

vi

Acknowledgements	V
Abstract	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	X
Introduction	1
Literature Review	1
Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation Benefits	2
Effects of NMES on Substrate Utilization	5
Effects of NMES on Muscle Mass	7
Muscle Structure and Function	10
Effects of Exercise on Glucose Transporter 4	13
Effects of Exercise on Insulin Sensitivity	14
Insulin-dependent Glucose Uptake Pathway	16
Insulin-independent Glucose Uptake Pathway: Muscle Contraction Media	ated17
Purpose	19
Specific Aims	
Methods	21
Physical Activity Level	23
Body Composition	23
Anthropometric Measurements	23
Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA)	
Strength	24
Isokinetic Dynamometer	
Dietary Control	
Insulin Sensitivity	25
Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)	

## **Table of Contents**

Substrate Utilization	25
Resting Metabolic Rate and substrate utilization	25
Acute Metabolic Effect	26
Lactate Accumulation	26
Assay Samples	26
Complete Blood Count with Differential & Platelet Count	26
Comprehensive Metabolic Panel	27
Thyroid Profile II	27
Lipid Panel	27
Fasting Insulin (C-Peptide)	27
Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation Protocol	27
Statistical Analysis	28
Results	29
Improvement in Insulin Sensitivity after 4 weeks of NMES	29
Acute and chronic effects of NMES on Energy Expenditure and Substrate utilization	30
No Change in Body Composition after 4 weeks of NMES	33
No Change in Lipid Profile after 4 weeks of NMES	35
Lipid Panel	35
Discussion	36
References	42

Vita 59

## List of Tables

Table 1 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	22
Table 2 Screening Measurements	22
Table 3 Study Variables	22
Table 4. Descriptive Characteristics	29

## List of Figures

)
2
)
;
)
2
;
ŀ
į

### Introduction

### **Literature Review**

One-third (39.8%) of adults in the United States are considered obese and 9.4% of U.S adults have type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). [1, 2] In addition, obesity rate in adults has increased from 21.7% to 34.8% (2000-present) in Texas [3] where 37.9% were Hispanics. [4] In 2018, 12.5% of adults in Texas were diagnosed with T2DM [3] where 13.1% were Hispanic. [5] Moreover, Hispanics have one of the highest prevalence of obesity (33.3%) compared to other races. [1] Of the 9.4% national diabetes average 12.5% are Hispanic adults diagnosed with T2DM, in addition 23.8% of people with diabetes in the nation are undiagnosed. [6, 7] In 2017, 34.9% of adults in El Paso, TX were considered obese where 36.1% were Hispanic. [8] Furthermore, 13.9% of adults in El Paso, TX have been diagnosed with diabetes. [9] Insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, and T2DM increases risk for developing cardiovascular disease, the leading cause of death in the U.S. [10, 11]

Exercise is highly effective in improving insulin sensitivity and metabolic health [12], however, majority of U.S. adults (79%) do not meet American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) recommended 150 minutes/week of physical activity, leading to dramatic increase in obesity, insulin resistance and T2DM over the past few decades. [13] Moreover, in 2007-2010 only 36% of individuals diagnosed with T2DM achieved physical activity standards (defined as  $\geq$ 150 minutes of moderate or  $\geq$ 75 minutes of vigorous leisure-time or work-related physical activity per week). [14] Walking for 20-30 minutes may be challenging, uncomfortable, and/or painful for individuals with sever obesity, arthritis, physical disabilities, and/or diabetes complications. [15] Obese individuals face challenges during weight-bearing movement such as jogging or running and are at a greater risk for injury and pain-related intolerance. [16] A study found that a 1% increase in glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) among participant's is associated with a 28% increase in the risk of death; independent of age, blood pressure, cholesterol, and body mass index. [17] In 2016, The American Diabetes Association (ADA) recommendation calls for three

or more minutes of light activity, such as walking, leg extensions or overhead arm stretches, every 30 minutes during prolonged sedentary activities for improved blood sugar management, particularly for people with T2DM. [12]

Therefore, additional strategies to increase adoption and adherence to physical activity are warranted. Electrical Stimulation (ES) is a practical, non-invasive, cost-effective and innovative method to promote an alternative mode of muscle contraction among individuals who are less likely to engage in conventional physical activity. Although ES is frequently used in clinical setting for improving neuromuscular function and strength in disused/immobilized limbs [18, 19, 20, 21, 22], there is a gap in our knowledge of how effective ES is in improving insulin sensitivity and metabolic health. Skeletal muscle is the largest, most metabolically active tissue and is the major site for lipid and glucose metabolism. Therefore, muscle is considered a primary target for studying the pathogenesis of insulin resistance, obesity and T2DM.

#### **NEUROMUSCULAR ELECTRICAL STIMULATION BENEFITS**

*Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation (NMES)* is often used in the rehabilitation setting using electrical pulses to induce involuntary muscle contractions; it helps with re-education of disused limbs, pain management, reducing inflammation and swelling. [20, 19, 21, 18] This therapy makes use of random special recruitment, based on the proximity of intramuscular nerve branches to adhesive electrodes. [22, 23, 24] These surface electrodes induce muscle contractions similar to when an action potential travels down a motor neuron from the brain initiating the signaling cascade of muscle contraction. [25] During muscle contraction, motor units receive electrical signals from the brain to move myosin isoforms (thick filaments) forming cross bridges in preparation for the power stroke, whereas use of NMES directly stimulate muscle contraction bypassing the brains signal changing the surface membrane potential of axon terminals causing the release of calcium initiating the signaling cascade of muscle contraction.

Effects of NMES on insulin sensitivity: Prolonged periods of exercise training has been proven to improve insulin sensitivity in individuals with obesity and T2DM. [26, 27, 28, 29, 30,

31, 32] Studies on the effects of NMES on insulin sensitivity are very limited. Previous studies in our laboratory have established the effectiveness of electrical stimulation in increaseing mitochondrial content, lipid content and glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) proteins in human myotubes using an *in vitro* model. [33, 34] Electrical stimulation of skeletal muscle cells (*in vitro*) has been shown to have an additive effect on insulin stimulated glucose uptake. [35, 36] Nikolic et al. 2012, electrically stimulated human skeletal muscle cells either using high-frequency (100 Hz for 5-60 minutes) or low-frequency (1 Hz continuously for 24 or 48 hours). [37] The study reported an increase in glucose uptake and cell lactate content in the high-frequency group, while ATP and PCr content dcreased. In the low-frequency group, oxidative capacity incrased along with doubling of mitochondrial content. Glucose uptake by ES have been evaluated in several studies in humans muscle cells. [38, 39, 37, 40] ES increased insulin-stimulated glycogen synthesis [41] and glucose oxidation [39, 37, 41]. Fatty acid oxidation, on the other hand, were reported to be increased by ES in some but not all studies. This conflicting results in fatty acid oxidation were concluded to be possibly dependent on both the varied ES protocols used and donor characteristics. [39, 37, 41]

*In vivo* studies by ES, have shown that increase in blood flow in a muscle cell is important for increasing rate of glucose uptake during muscle contraction [42]. An increase in insulin response in patients with T2DM was reported after 2 weeks of NMES treatment (50Hz of quadriceps stimulation) without any change in lipid profile. [43] Furthermore, Catalogna et al. 2016 reported an improvement in blood glucose control in patients with T2DM after daily five minute stimulation for eight weeks at 16Hz on the lower extremity [44]. Overall, there was a decrease in fasting glucose, lower serum cortisol level, and mean HbA1c level. The study also showed decrease in postpradial blood glucose after breakfast after eight weeks. [44] Jabbour et al. 2015, performed two sessions of electrical stimulation at 8Hz up to tolerable intensity during the first hour of a standardized glucose tolerance (OGTT) test. After obtaining two blood samples through venipuncture, at minute 60 and 120 of OGTT testing, the study reported a significantly lower blood glucose after NMES treatment compared to the control sessions. This study also

showed a positive correlation between NMES stimulation intensity and degree of decrease in blood glucose levels in individuals with T2DM. [45].

Although the present literature indicates promising potential of using NMES to improve insulin sensitivity in a population with T2DM, comprehensive randomized controlled trial using gold standard hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp to determine the effects of NMES on insulin sensitivity and substrate utilization are limited. A pilot study by Joubert et al. 2015, performed four weeks of quadriceps stimulation at 35Hz, in a T2DM population, and reported an increase in insulin sensitivity measured by hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp. [46] Two small studies by Hamada et al. [47, 48] investigated the acute effects of NMES, in a healthy all-male population, during a single NMES session for 20 min at 20Hz. The findings reported oxygen uptake increasing twofold with the onset of ES. The study also reported an initial increase in both lactate accumilation and respiratory gas exchange ratio (RER) and then gradually declinded towards the end of ES. The glucose disposal rate (GDR), measured by clamp, in this study increased during stimulation and remained increased for at least 90 minutes after cessiation of NMES (recovery period). [47, 48] Mahoney et al. 2005, reported, after a 12-week combination NMES and resistance training (RT) intervention, an improvement in blood glucose in participants with spinal cord injury (SCI) (a population at higher risk of developing T2DM). [49] In 2018 Miyamoto et al evaluated lower limb electrical stimulation for eight weeks, 40 min/session, 5x/wk at 4 Hz, in T2DM population. [50] The study reported a significantly greater percent change in the fasting glucose concentration and significantly greater percent change in body fat in NMES than in control. To the best of our knowledge, it can be concluded that NMES is an effective method towards improving insulin sensitivity in T2DM population, yet no studies have evaluated the effectiveness of NMES to improve insulins sensitivity, substrate metabolism, and muscle mass in a high-risk population for developing T2DM.

#### **EFFECTS OF NMES ON SUBSTRATE UTILIZATION**

Metabolic diseases are physiological abnormalities associated with developing heart disease, stroke, insulin resistance, obesity, and T2DM (increase in blood pressure, blood sugar, body fat, and abnormal cholesterol levels). [51] Whole body substrate utilization is measured by calculating RER or respiratory quotient (RQ). RQ is the proportion of carbon dioxide produced to oxygen consumed (RQ=VCO<sub>2</sub>/VO<sub>2</sub>). Theoretically RQ value range from 0.7 to 1.0 indicating approximately 100% fat or carbohydrate oxidation, respectively. [13] A defect in substrate utilization has been identified as one of the major metabolic defects associated with obesity and T2DM. Kelly et al 1999, reported obese individuals had no change in RQ from fasted values to insulin stimulated values at baseline. After a 4-month weight loss intervention, fasted RQ had no change pre to post-intervention, however, insulin stimulated values significantly increased leg RQ. [52] Metabolic flexibility is characterized by the ability to switch from one fuel source to the other in response to a meal or insulin (delta RQ). [53, 54] Individuals with obesity and T2DM are often metabolically inflexible, and therefore have a lesser reliance on fat oxidation during fasted state and inability to switch to carbohydrate oxidation in an insulin stimulated state compared to those who are metabolically flexible. [55] These defects have been reported to improve with exercise training.

Resistance exercise training has been shown to improve insulin sensitivity as evidenced by enhanced insulin action in skeletal muscle, improved glucose tolerance, and a decrease in HbA1c levels. [56, 57, 26, 58, 59, 60] Jamurtas et al. 2004, has shown that a single bout of RT for 60 minutes increased fat oxidation (decrease in RQ), and elevated resting energy expenditure following 10 and 24 hours exercise bout. [61] Talanian et al. 2007, showed an increase in fat oxidation and maximal mitochondrial enzyme activity after two weeks of high-intensity aerobic interval training in healthy recreationally active women. [62] Ghanassia et al. 2006, demonstrated greater carbohydrate use (increase in RQ) with increasing exercise intensity during a 30 minutes of cycle ergometer test with increasing intensity in T2DM population. [63]

Studies investigating the chronic effects of NMES on substrate utilization and energy expenditure are limited. Hultmans and Spriet (1986) reported an increase in oxidative metabolism, measured by muscle biopsy, after an acute session, 45 minutes, at 20Hz quadriceps stimulation in a healthy population. [24] RQ measured during a single bout of stimulation session at 75Hz in healthy males showed an increase in RQ, the authors speculate that rapid elevation of RQ with electrical stimulation would indicate anaerobic breakdown and utilization of intramuscular glycogen in the activated muscle fibers. [64] Kemmler et al. 2012, investigated the effects of whole-body electrical stimulation (16 muscle regions; e.g., upper legs, upper arms, gluteals, abdomen, chest, lower back, upper back, and shoulder) at 85Hz on energy expenditure during lowintensity resistance exercise training on 19 moderately trained men. [65] The authors found a significantly higher energy expenditure during whole-body electrical stimulation with exercise training than without whole-body stimulation during exercise. [65] One of the only studies utilizing obese participants, examined the acute effects of one-hour low frequency stimulation (5Hz) to the quadriceps and hamstring muscles, found an increased oxygen uptake, RER, energy expenditure, lactate, heart rate and carbohydrate oxidation. [66] Hamada et al. 2004 compared the effects of 20 minutes of stimulation at 20Hz to the lower leg muscles (tibialis anterior and triceps surae) and the thigh (quadriceps and hamstrings) to a single bout of 20 minutes of cycling. [47] Authors found a greater carbohydrate use and an increase of oxygen uptake during stimulation as well as an increased requirement for glucose during stimulation and recovery. [47] The study also found similarities to the study done by Grosset et al. 2013 such as an increase in oxygen uptake, heart rate, lactate and RER at the onset of stimulation but not with exercise. [66, 47] These findings suggest an increased energy requirement during NMES, alongside increased glucose utilization during stimulation. Miyamoto et al. [67, 68] investigated the acute effect of lower limb NMES for 30 minutes at 4Hz 30 minutes after a standard meal on T2DM population. Both studies found blood glucose concentration in the NMES group was significantly lower compared to the control group at minute 60, 90, and 120 after the meal. C-peptide concentration was also found to be significantly smaller comparted to the control group at minute 120. Oxygen uptake, RQ and lactate

concentration were significantly higher in the NMES group compared to control. Given most of the studies were evaluating acute effect performed in healthy and or physically active population, it is unknown whether chronic NMES use can improve substrate utilization and energy expenditure of those with metabolic diseases such as obesity.

#### **EFFECTS OF NMES ON MUSCLE MASS**

Skeletal muscle is one of the largest, most metabolically active tissues and is the major site for lipid and glucose metabolism. Therefore, muscle is considered a primary target for studying the pathogenesis of insulin resistance, obesity and T2DM. Increase in muscle mass with RT has been suggested to be the main regulator of increased glucose uptake (i.e. improvement in insulin sensitivity). [69, 70]. In a four-month strength training study, 3x/wk, showed an increase in maximum strength of all muscle groups including an improvement in long-term glycemic control in an obese and T2DM population. [71] Several studies report an improvement in muscle mass, muscle strength and improvement in insulin sensitivity with varied exercise does and duration using RT. [72, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 26, 79] RT indicates an effective method towards improving overall health in obese and T2DM population.

Information is limited on effects of NMES (or NMES combined with RT) on muscle mass in an obese and T2DM populations. Limited number of studies that reported the NMES effects on muscle strength and muscle mass were conducted in healthy sedentary population, trained cyclists, and patients with SCI. Therefore, no direct conclusions can be drawn regarding effects of NMES on muscle mass and strength in population with metabolic diseases such as obese and T2DM. Edwards et al. 1997, reported that NMES at a frequency of 50Hz produces 60% of maximal muscle contraction. [80] Griffin et al. 2009, showed an increase in muscle power and work done, and a 4% increase in lean muscle mass using cycling functional electrical stimulation (used for paralyzed body limbs) for 10 weeks in a SCI population. [81] Chilibeck et al. 1999, reported an increase in two glucose transporter isoforms (GLUT1 and GLUT4) and an improvement in insulin sensitivity measured by OGTT, after 8 weeks of combined NMES and exercise training. [82] Increases in muscle fiber cross sectional area (CSA) after four [83] and eight weeks [18] of NMES has been reported in healthy volunteers. Additionally, an increase in isokinetic strength after four weeks (16 min/session 3x/wk at 100 Hz) [84] and increases in abdominal strength after 6 weeks (30 min/session 5x/wk) [85] of NMES have also been reported in healthy individuals. Martin et al. [86] reported no change in muscle CSA in healthy individuals after four weeks of NMES, which could have been attributed to short session time (10min) compared to others (ranging from 16-34min) [83, 84, 85, 87]. Neder et al. 2002 found increases in peak torque and a trend to improve isometric mean force after 6 weeks of electrical stimulation in participants with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [88]. Two studies, in participants with chronic heart failure, found an increase in gastrocnemius muscle mass after five weeks [89] and an increase in CSA after eight weeks with NMES (50Hz) [90]. After 6 weeks of NMES (50Hz) in patients with end-stage osteoarthritis also found increases in CSA [91]. However, two other studies reported no change in CSA in patients with lower limb or knee joint injury/surgery, with two frequency groups of intensities in each, 20 and 80Hz for 12 weeks [92] and 50 and 100Hz for four weeks [93]. Since the mechanisms of improvements, or lack thereof, are still unclear with this type of therapy, it is possible that these studies were in a population more concerned about muscle re-education rather than muscle gain. Finally, two studies in patients with SCI found an increase in total work output for 30 min/session, 3x/wk, for eight weeks at 30Hz [94] and increases in other variables of power, fiber area, and capillarization for 2-3x/week for ten weeks at 50Hz [81]. It can be theorized from previous studies finding improvements in work output, [94] resistance to fatigue, [21] muscle mass and maximal voluntary strength, [18] that some hypertrophic/strength changes occur with NMES. However, to our knowledge there has been no studies that has measured the effectiveness of using NMES to increase muscle mass in a sedentary overweight/obese population, a population at risk of developing T2DM.

Taken together, current evidence indicates promising potential in using NMES to improve metabolic health. NMES therapy has reported a reduction in fasting blood glucose [95, 44, 43, 45] and improvements in HbA1c levels in obese and T2DM suggesting metabolic benefits [41, 96].

Acute NMES use seem to be effective in increasing glucose uptake, energy expenditure, and oxygen utilization. [45, 47, 48, 24, 64, 66, 67, 68] The use of NMES in preventing muscle loss during immobilization and increase in muscle strength and power have mainly been investigated in non-obese healthy [97], patients with COPD [98], SCI [94], and surgical populations [99]. Most of the studies that evaluated effects of NMES on glucose uptake are in muscle cells (*in* vitro), patients with T2DM or SCI, or investigated acute effects of NMES in healthy males. There is a lack of literature on effects of NMES on energy metabolism in general. Only few studies using NMES are in healthy active males or a single bout in T2DM. Effect of NMES on muscle mass have been evaluated generally in patients with SCI, COPD, T2DM, or healthy individuals. Therefor there is a gap in literature to understand the effects of chronic NMES with comprehensive understanding on insulin sensitivity, substrate metabolism and muscle mass/strength in sedentary overweight/obese individuals.

#### **MUSCLE STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION**



The structural organization of a skeletal muscle is shown in Figure 1 taken from Powers

Figure 1. Skeletal muscle structure

SK and Howley ET. [100] Epimysium is a layer of connective tissue that surrounds an individual muscle. Perimysium is a layer of connective tissue that surrounds a group of fibers within that muscle that are arranged into bundles. Sarcolemma or cell membrane surrounds a single muscle fiber. Within each muscle fiber contains numerus myofibrils and contains even more of myofilaments. Myofilaments are formed by connected sarcomeres, which are the contractile units

of a skeletal muscle. The structure of an individual skeletal muscle fiber is shown in Figure 2 taken



Figure 2. A single skeletal muscle fiber of dark and light bands

from Powers SK and Howley ET. Sarcomeres are basic unit of striated muscle tissue containing dark and light bands known as A band (dark) and I band (light). Each A band has a lighter region in its midsection called the H zone; each H zone is bisected vertically by a dark line called M line. Each I band also has a midline interruption, a darker area called the Z disc. A single fiber contains ~70-80% of total protein known as actin and myosin (myofilament proteins).

Sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) and transverse tubules (T tubules) are the skeletal muscle fibers intracellular tubules that help regulate muscle contraction. SR surrounds each myofibril longitudinally to allow communication with each other at the H zone. The SR stores and regulates intracellular levels of calcium ions (used during muscle contraction). At each A band-I band junction, the sarcolemma of the muscle cell runs deep into the cell interior, forming a tube called the T tubule.

An electrical impulse that is sent down from the brain to the targeted muscle results in muscle movement, this is known as voluntary muscle contraction. Once the brain sends the signal it is transported to the muscle through the motor neurons. In a nerve a neural message is generated when a stimulus of enough strength reaches the neuron membrane (shown in **figure 3** taken from



Figure 3. Electrical impulse in a nerve

Powers SK and Howley ET) and opens sodium gates, allowing sodium ions to enter into the neuron, making the inside of the cell positively charged (depolarizing the cell). When depolarization reaches a "threshold," more sodium gates open and an action potential is formed. After an action potential has been generated, a sequence of ionic exchanges (sodium channels

open) occurs along the axon to generate the nerve impulse. This ionic exchange along the neuron occurs in a sequential fashion at the nodes of Ranviar.

Repolarization occurs immediately following depolarization, resulting in a return of the resting membrane potential (making inside the cell negative) causing the nerve ready to be stimulated again. This occurs when potassium channels open to allow potassium ions to leave the cell making the voltage potential negative. The sodium-potassium pump causes sodium (three sodium ions) to pump outside of the cell and potassium (two potassium ions) to pump inside the cell causing the voltage potential to return to resting voltage. The "all-or-none" law of action potentials refers to the development of a nerve impulse. Meaning once an impulse is initiated the voltage travels the entire length of the nerve without a decrease.

Communication between neurons and muscles occurs though a process called synaptic transmission. Synaptic transmission occurs when sufficient amounts of chemical messengers known as neurotransmitter are released from synaptic vesicles contained in the presynaptic neuron. An impulse causes synaptic vesicles to release stored neurotransmitter into the space between the presynaptic neuron and postsynaptic membrane called the synaptic cleft. After neurotransmitters are released into the synaptic cleft, these bind to a "receptor" on the target membrane.

The axon of a motor neuron innervates skeletal muscle fibers from the spinal cord. At the muscle the axon splits into collateral branches allowing for each to innervate a single muscle fiber. A motor unit consists of motor neuron and all the muscle fibers that it innervates. Calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) release occurs when an action potential travels down t-tubules changing the membrane potential and the release of sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>), opening voltage gated channels on the sarcoplasmic reticulum releasing Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions into cytoplasm, thus muscle contraciton begins. [25]

#### **EFFECTS OF EXERCISE ON GLUCOSE TRANSPORTER 4**

GLUT4 is one of 13 facilitative glucose transport proteins and is expressed most abundantly in adipose tissue, cardiac and skeletal muscle. [101] GLUT4 is a major mediator of glucose removal from the circulation and a key regulator of whole-body glucose homeostasis. [102] GLUT4 translocation increases muscle glucose transport during exercise from intracellular sites to the sarcolemma and T-tubules. [101] GLUT4 translocation is a process that alters the subcellular distribution of GLUT4 from intracellular stores to the plasma membrane due to insulin stimulated glucose uptake. [103] During submaximal exercise an inverse relationship between skeletal muscle GLUT4 protein content and glucose disappearance was observed. [104] Increased skeletal muscle GLUT4 expression has also been shown to enable post-exercise glucose uptake and glycogen storage. [105] During a six-week lower body strength training program, individuals with T2DM showed a 40% increase of GLUT4 density in the muscle. [57] It has been shown that a single bout of exercise increases the translocation of GLUT4 to the skeletal muscle plasma membrane in participants with and without T2DM. [106]

#### **EFFECTS OF EXERCISE ON INSULIN SENSITIVITY**

It has been well documented that exercise training improves insulin sensitivity. Short term (2 – 6 weeks) and long term exercise training reported improvements in fasting plasma glucose [107, 108, 109, 110], fasting insulin levels [111, 107, 112, 113, 114], glucose tolerance [108, 115, 116] and insulin sensitivity measured by hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp. [111, 112, 117] These improvement in insulin sensitivity have been documented in all populations including healthy sedentary [118], insulin resistant [119], obese [110, 120, 121], and individuals with T2DM. [107, 108, 109, 116]

Skeletal muscle is the most metabolically active tissue and is the major site for glucose disposal. Therefore, increases in muscle mass plays an important role in improvement in insulin sensitivity, obesity, and T2DM. During increasing exercise intensity, blood flow and circulating glucose concentration increases resulting in an increase of glucose delivery to the working skeletal muscles [122]. Exercise intensity and duration are primary determinants of skeletal muscle glucose uptake, accounting for up to 40% of oxidative metabolism during exercise. [101] During exercise blood flow to skeletal muscle can increase up to 20-fold from rest to intense dynamic exercise. [101] The increase in blood flow is the larger contributor to the exercise-induced increase in

muscle glucose uptake. [101] Therefore, the increase in muscle perfusion can lead to an increase in glucose supply and delivery [123]. Likewise, increased skeletal muscle glucose uptake has been reported during exercise [123, 124], even when insulin levels are clamped (kept at a specified level). In population with metabolic disease (obesity and T2DM) impairment of insulin signaling leading to low glycogen synthesis and oxidative glucose disposal has been reported. [125] Exercise-stimulated molecular mechanism resulting in increased skeletal muscle glucose uptake increases GDR even in states of insulin resistance [126]. A single resistance exercise session (consisting of 16 sets of leg-exercise) improves whole-body insulin sensitivity by as much as 13% when measured 24 hours after exercise. [127] Therefore, it can provide a relevant alterantive pathway for individuals with obesity and T2DM.

Insulin resistance (i.e. decreased insulin sensitivity) is the inefficiency of insulin to uptake glucose, which has been shown to be associated with physical inactivity, obesity, and T2DM. [128, 129, 130] The pathogenic nature of insulin resistance in skeletal muscle is characterized by the inability of insulin to effectively signal glucose uptake. [131, 132, 133] Elevated levels of lipid metabolites such as long chain fatty acyl-CoA (LCFA-CoA), diacylcycerols (DAGs) and ceramides in skeletal muscle have been reported in insulin resistant population (obesity and T2DM). [134, 135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142] Human and animal studies have shown that these lipid metabolites (LCFA-CoA, DAGs, and ceramides) to disrupt the insulin signaling cascade at several levels [134, 139, 143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148], leading to a decrease in GLUT4 protein (the main isoforms expressed in skeletal muscle) content and translocation, resulting in a reduction in glucose uptake. [131, 132, 133, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155] It has been shown skeletal muscle contraction is effective in increasing glucose uptake in individuals with insulin resistance. [43, 44, 45, 46]

Martin et al. 1995, showed a decline in blood glucose during exercise in nonobese individuals with non-insulin dependent diabetics by enhanced peripheral glucose utilization. [156]



Figure 4. Insulin Dependent and Insulin Independent GLUT4 Translocation

**Figure 4** (adapted from [91,120, 151-192]) shows a generalized overview of the molecular mechanisms of glucose uptake pathways (insulin dependent and insulin independent/muscle contraction) [157]. Non-insulin mediated [157] exercise induced glucose uptake is of high importance for those with insulin resistance (e.g, obese and individuals with type 2 diabetes), due to defects in glucose uptake through insulin dependent pathway.

#### INSULIN-DEPENDENT GLUCOSE UPTAKE PATHWAY

The insulin receptor (IR) is a heterotetrameric membrane glycoprotein composed of two  $\alpha$ -subunits and two  $\beta$ -subunits. [158] Insulin binds to the extracellular  $\alpha$ -subunits, and this leads to activation of the transmembrane  $\beta$ -subunits and auto-phosphorylation of the receptor. [158] The phosphorylation sites on the  $\beta$ -subunit of IR play important functional roles in promoting receptor

kinase activity and facilitating the interaction between the receptor and intracellular substrates. [158] Insulin signaling pathways are not necessarily linear, as there is a high degree of cross communication between the signal transducers. [158]

Briefly, GLUT4 are localized intracellularly, however an increase of blood glucose levels causes pancreatic beta-cells to secrete insulin, which binds to IR on skeletal muscle cell membranes. Insulin receptor substrate isoform (IRS-1) link the initial event of insulin receptor signaling cascade to downstream events. [158] IRS molecules contain multiple tyrosine phosphorylation sites that become phosphorylated after insulin stimulation [158, 159], allowing phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-K) to bind. PI3-K promotes phosphatidylinositol-triphosphate (PIP3) production by catalyzing phosphatidylinositiol-diphsphate (PIP2) into PIP3 [160, 158], which serves as an allosteric regulator of phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase (PDK). [161] PIP3 mediates glucose transport via signaling to protein kinase B (PKB) (also knowns as Akt) [162] and/or protein kinase C (PKC) [163], Akt2 plays an important role in glucose metabolism by directing GLUT4 to the plasma membrane and assist in anabolic processes [164, 165]. Activated Akt phosphorylates Akt substrate 160 (AS160) and Tre-2/BUB2/cdc 1 domain family member 1 (TBC1D1) [165, 166]. AS160 and TBC1D1 is proposed to inhibit Ras homologous from brain (Rab)-GTPase-activating protein (GAP) activity toward particular Rab isoforms, thus inhibition of GAP promotes coversion of less active GDP-loaded Rab (Rab-GDP) to more active GTP-loaded Rab (Rab-GTP). [165] Covertion of Rab-GDP to Rab-GTP results in the release of GLUT4 vesicles to move to and fuse with the plasma membrane allowing glucose uptake into the cell [166, 165].

#### INSULIN-INDEPENDENT GLUCOSE UPTAKE PATHWAY: MUSCLE CONTRACTION MEDIATED

Skeletal muscle contraction, increases glucose uptake independent of the insulin activated PI3-K, IRS-1, AS160 [167, 168] (AS160 – facilitates GLUT4 translocation [167, 169]), and Akt/PKB pathways [170, 171, 172, 173, 174]. Exercise mediated muscle contraction activates insulin independent adenosine monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK)

(increased AMP/adenosine triphosphate (ATP) ratio) and calcium calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CAMK) (increased Ca<sup>2+</sup> secretion and activation of calmodulin [175]) pathways, but also upregulates AS160 [168, 176] increasing GLUT4 translocation and as a result improved glucose uptake within skeletal muscle [168, 177].

Adenylate kinase (ADK) playes a key role in catalyzing an exchange reaction known as the nucleotide phosphoryl: two adenosine diphosphate (ADP)  $\leftrightarrow$  ATP + AMP [178, 179]. During skeletal muscle contraction there is a deplition of ATP thus a fall in ATP:ADP ratio and ADK will run from left to right, leading to a large increase in AMP as ATP falls. [178] AMPK has been implicated as an important mediator of muscle contraction-induced glucose transport [180]. AMPK has been shown to postivily regulating glucose and fatty acid uptake through glycolysis and oxidation [181]. AMPK is a heterotrimeric protein, composed of one  $\alpha$ -subunit and two noncatalytic ( $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ) subunits [180] and is activated by cellular stress associated with ATP depletion. [182] The protein is activated in response to an increase in the ratio of AMP:ATP within the cell. [183] AMPK phosphorylates TBC1D1 and AS160 [184] and inactivating GTPase causing Rab-GTP to increase and accelerates GLUT 4 translocation [181]. AMPK phosphorylates the molecules is the muscle contraction pathway and Akt phosphorylates the molecules in the insulin pathway [181]. Intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels are related to motor nerve activity [126]. Original *in vitro* animal studies utilizing frog sartorius muscle incubated in caffeine resulted in the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum increasing glucose transport [185, 186]. But other studies have shown no effect of  $Ca^{2+}$  with an impairment in insulin stimulated glucose transport [187, 188]. These differences are difficult to explain, but Lee et al. 1995 [188] hypothesizes these are due to magnitude and duration of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  increase.

Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases (CAMKKs) is hypothesized to increase glucose uptake by direct AMPK activation independent of energy depletion (AMP/ATP ratio) [101]. This leads to AS160 phosphorylation allowing GLUT4 storage vesicles to move to and fuse with the plasma membrane [165].  $Ca^{2+}$  activates CAMK, calcineurin, and PKC. Calcineurin is a  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent serine/threonine phosphatase, activated by calmodulin, related to

muscle hypertrophy [189, 190] and muscle fiber type transition [191, 192]. CAMK is a serine/threonine protein kinase where CAMKK is of particular interest in skeletal muscle. CAMKK is thought to decode the frequency of  $Ca^{2+}$  spikes into graded amounts of kinase activity [193] enhancing glucose transport. The overexpression of a CAMKK inhibitor, decreased glucose transport by skeletal muscle contraction independent of AMPK phosphorylation, suggesting CAMKK playing a critical role in glucose uptake [194]. PKC are activated in response to increases in  $Ca^{2+}$ , which in turn may mediate glucose uptake by extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) [195, 196]. ERK signaling is highly dependend to intensity of exercise [197] where it has been shown that when one leg was exercised, activation of ERK was only detected in the exercised muscle, suggesting a local response to muscle contraction [198, 199]. However,  $Ca^{2+}$  increase is hypothesized to not exactly be the cause for the increase skeletal muscle glucose uptake, but rather via the activation CAMKK from direct AMPK activation due to increased ATP need from skeletal muscle contraction from  $Ca^{2+}$  release [101].

Musi et al. 2001, reported after a single bout of exercise on a cycle ergometer for 45 minutes showed an increase in AMPK activity and decrease in blood glucose concentraction in a T2DM populaiton. [200] Hutber et al. 1997, used electrical stimulation for 30 minutes at 1Hz *in vitro* resulting in a significant increase in the ratio of AMP to ATP and AMPK activation at minute 20 of stimulation. [201] An *in vitro* study by Atherton et al. 2005, applied electrical stimulation of 10Hz to skeletal muscle cells resulting in an increase of AMPK phosphorylation. [202] Literature provided has shown that muscle contraction (voluntary or involuntary) can initiate the insulin-independent signaling pathway increasing glucose uptake in individuals with insulin resistance.

#### Purpose

The primary purpose of this study is to determine the effects of four weeks of Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation induced muscle contractions on metabolic health and muscle mass in a sedentary population with metabolic impairments.

### **Specific Aims**

**Specific Aim 1.** To determine the effects of four weeks of NMES on insulin sensitivity by oral glucose tolerance test and metabolic markers (e.g. glucose and lipid profiles) by blood samples in a sedentary overweight and obese population.

**Specific Aim 2.** To determine the effects of four weeks of NMES on energy metabolism (e.g. resting metabolic rate [RMR] and whole-body fat oxidation capacity) by indirect calorimetry, and lactate accumulation by frequent blood sampling in a sedentary overweight and obese population.

**Specific Aim 3.** To determine the effects of four weeks of NMES on body composition measured by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and muscle strength measured by isokinetic dynamometer in a sedentary overweight and obese population.

### Methods

Ten overweight and obese participants between the ages of 18 and 54 were recruited to this study and were randomized into two groups (n=5/group) (Figure 5 top portion). Study protocol was approved by the University of Texas at El Paso Institutional Review Board and each participant signed a written informed consent form. All participants were sedentary as defined by



Figure 5. Study Design

Figure 5 provides the overview of the study design. Interested study participants were screened over the phone using a standardized questionnaire to determine eligibility. If the participants met basic inclusion criteria through self-reported age, height, and weight status, a meeting was scheduled to obtain signed informed consent form and following screening measurements (Table 2) to determine any exclusion criteria (Table 1). If no exclusion criteria were met, participants were issued an accelerometer to determine physical activity level over a period of 7 days. If participant met the sedentary physical activity level criteria, defined as less than 60

minutes spent in moderate to vigorous physical activity per week, [203] the participants were then instructed to return for assessment of strength, insulin sensitivity, substrate utilization, and body composition. Two days prior to baseline measurement of insulin sensitivity by OGTT, all participants were provided with a standard diet (~55% carbohydrate, ~15% protein, ~30% fat) to control for dietary effects on primary outcome measures after reporting any food allergies. Substrate utilization were assessed using indirect calorimetry during the fasted/resting state prior to the ingestion of a 75g glucose drink and again 15 minutes after ingestions. Fasting blood samples were collected to determine complete blood count (CBC), complete metabolic panel (CMP), Thyroid profile, plasma lipids, and plasma insulin.

Table 1 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria			
• $18 \le Age \le 54$ years	• Anyone taking anti-hypertensive, lipid-			
• $25 \leq BMI \text{ kg/m}^2$	lowering, or insulin sensitizing			
• Sedentary/Moderately Active Lifestyle	medications			
(PAL <1.4)	Smoking			
<ul> <li>less than 150 minutes per week</li> </ul>	Excessive drinking			
of voluntary exercise	Pregnant Women			
	• Unwilling to adhere to the study			
	intervention			

Table 2 Screening Measurements

Measurement	Method
Physical Activity Level	Physical Activity Questionnaire & PAL
	(Accelerometer data)
Fasting Glucose	Blood Sample via lancet prick/ Analysis via
	Contour Next Blood Glucose Meter
Lipid Profile (HDL, LDL, Cholesterol)	Laboratory Corporation of America ©
Blood Pressure	Automated Blood Pressure Device
Resting Heart Rate	External Heart Rate Monitor
Body Mass Index (BMI)	Height and Weight Measurements
Medical History	Questionnaire

Table 3 Study Variables

Variable	Method of Measuring
Body Composition	Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA)

Strength	Isokinetic Dynamometer
Resting Metabolic Rate	Indirect Calorimetry
Substrate Utilization	Indirect Calorimetry - respiratory quotient
Lactate Accumulation	Blood Lactate Measurements
Insulin Sensitivity	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)
Plasma Lipids	Laboratory Corporation of America ©
Fasting Insulin (C-Peptides)	Laboratory Corporation of America ©
Complete Blood Count w/Differentials	Laboratory Corporation of America ©
Complete Metabolic Panel	Laboratory Corporation of America ©
Thyroid Profile II	Laboratory Corporation of America ©

### **Physical Activity Level**

After confirming eligibility, participants were issued an activity monitor to confirm a sedentary physical activity level to measure the time spent in moderate to vigorous activity. The ActiGraph GT3XP-BTLE 2GB activity monitor (Pensacola, FL) was attached to an elastic belt which the subject wore on the level of the anterior superior iliac crest and wore for 7 consecutive days (5 week-days and 2 weekend-days) including during sleep times. After the activity monitors were returned, a compliance time of >90% total wear time was confirmed and physical activity level was quantified to ensure sedentariness.

### **Body Composition**

#### **ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASUREMENTS**

Height (cm) and weight (kg) measurements were obtained to verify a body mass index (BMI, Kg/m<sup>2</sup>) classified as overweight (25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) or obese ( $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). [13] Furthermore, circumference measures of the hips, waist, and mid-thigh were obtained. As recommended by ACSM Guidelines hip circumference (cm) were taken at the largest part of the hip at midway of the inguinal crease; waist circumference (cm) were taken with the participant standing, arms at sides, feet together, and abdomen relaxed at the narrowest part of the torso (above the umbilicus and below the xiphoid process). As recommended by ACSM Guidelines circumference of the mid-thigh (cm) were taken with the subject standing on one foot on a bench/chair with the knee

flexed at 90 degrees and the measure taken midway between the inguinal crease and the proximal border of the patella (midway measure will be ensured by measuring the distance between the patella and the inguinal crease and dividing by 2). Waist to hip ratio (WHR) were calculated by dividing the measure of the waist by the hip. [13]

#### **DUAL ENERGY X-RAY ABSORPTIOMETRY (DXA)**

Participants were asked to lie down supine on the scanner table of a GE Medical Systems, Lunar iDXA Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometer (Madison, WI). Participants were instructed to keep their arms close to the body, inside the marked regions with thumbs facing the ceiling and remain as still as possible. Knees and ankles were fastened together to prevent movement and standardize participant positioning. A scanner bar moved in the direction from head to toe of the participant, taking approximately 7-10 minutes depending on the participant's body size. Measurements of total lean mass, total fat mass, bone mineral density (BMD), percent body fat, percent android fat, percent gynoid fat, legs percent fat, legs percent lean, leg fat mass/total fat mass ratio, and visceral adipose tissue volume and mass were obtained.

### Strength

#### **ISOKINETIC DYNAMOMETER**

An Isokinetic Dynamometer Biodex System 3 Pro (Shirley, NY) was used to measure lower limb strength. The participant was seated in the chair, stabilized with cross-body shoulder straps, a waist strap, and thigh straps. The participant's knee was aligned appropriately with the dynamometer shaft and secured to the knee attachment proximal to the medial malleoli. The participant was instructed to fully extend/contract their leg to set the maximum range of motion (ROM) in both directions. Furthermore, participants were instructed to fully extend their legs again and the knee attachment was locked into place to weigh the leg. The participant was then instructed to perform a series of maximal flexions and extensions of the dominant limb (at 60 degrees per second).

### **Dietary Control**

Participants were provided with all food for two days prior to insulin sensitivity testing, to control for dietary effects on insulin sensitivity and blood profile. Meals were designed to comply with the USDA 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans and individualized to participant preferences/allergies. The standardized diet consisted of macronutrient energy contents of ~55% carbohydrates, ~15% protein, and ~30% fat (<10% of total fat consisting of saturated fat). The Mifflin St. Jour equation was utilized to match participants to their estimated energy requirements. For the duration of the intervention, participants were encouraged to follow the USDA Dietary Guidelines for Americans (detailed above) and consume an energy balanced diet.

### **Insulin Sensitivity**

#### **ORAL GLUCOSE TOLERANCE TEST (OGTT)**

Participants were instructed to avoid drinking alcohol, smoking, and strenuous exercise 24-48 hours prior to test days. Following a (12-h) overnight fast, participants arrived at the UTEP Health Sciences Building and were instructed to lie down for 5 minutes prior to obtaining fasting blood glucose sample. The participant was then asked to orally ingest a drink containing 75-grams of glucose as quickly as possible. Blood samples were then collected at timed intervals of 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 180 minutes following glucose ingestion using CONTOUR® NEXT One, Ascensia Diabetes Care handheld glucose monitoring system (Parsippany, NJ). Insulin sensitivity were assessed from calculating glucose area under the curve over the 3-hour test.

#### Substrate Utilization

#### **RESTING METABOLIC RATE AND SUBSTRATE UTILIZATION**

Resting substrate utilization were measured prior to conducting an OGTT test, on the same day of the OGTT using indirect calorimetry. Participants were placed into a semi-recumbent position with a hood canopy over their head to obtain measurements of oxygen utilized and carbon dioxide produced; estimating RMR and RQ using Parvomedics TrueOne 2400 metabolic cart (Salt Lake City, UT). Participants arrived after an overnight fast for this procedure and were instructed to breathe normally throughout the duration of this test.

#### ACUTE METABOLIC EFFECT

Acute effects of NMES on energy expenditure and substrate utilization were measured during the first and last NMES sessions. A fasting RMR and RQ were obtained prior to application of the stimulation and then monitored throughout the duration of stimulation (30 minutes). Given small sample size, date from session 1 and session 12 were combined for both groups to evaluate the effects of control and NMES.

#### LACTATE ACCUMULATION

Lactate production was measured during the first/last NMES intervention. Lactic acid was measured by whole blood samples using a hand-held Lactate Plus blood lactate meter (Nova Biomedical, Waltham, MA). A resting/fasted (~3-hr fast) blood sample was obtained using a lancet prick. Samples from a fingertip were collected prior to stimulation, in intervals of 5 minutes during the 30 minutes of stimulation. Lactate accumulation over the 30 min of stimulation was assessed by calculating lactate AUC. Given small sample size, date from session 1 and session 12 were combined for both groups to evaluate the effects of control and NMES on lactate concentration.

#### **Assay Samples**

#### **COMPLETE BLOOD COUNT WITH DIFFERENTIAL & PLATELET COUNT**

On the same day of the OGTT, a fasting blood sample was obtained via antecubital venipuncture for analysis of hematocrit, hemoglobin, mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH), mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC), red cell distribution width (RDW), platelet count (PC), white blood cell count (WBC), and red blood cell count (RBC). Blood samples were evaluated by Laboratory Corporation of America (Burlington, NC).

#### **COMPREHENSIVE METABOLIC PANEL**

On the same day of the OGTT, a fasting blood sample was obtained via antecubital venipuncture for analysis of alkaline phosphatase, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), albumin, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine, calcium, sodium, potassium, chloride, CO<sub>2</sub>, glucose, total bilirubin, total protein, and total globulin. Blood samples were evaluated by Laboratory Corporation of America (Burlington, NC).

#### **THYROID PROFILE II**

On the same day of the OGTT, a fasting blood sample was obtained via antecubital venipuncture for analysis of free thyroxine index (FTI), T3 uptake (THBR), thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), thyroxine (T4), and tri-iodothyronine (T3). Blood samples were evaluated by Laboratory Corporation of America (Burlington, NC).

#### LIPID PANEL

On the same day of the OGTT, a fasting blood sample was obtained via antecubital venipuncture for analysis of low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (TC) and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL). Blood samples were evaluated by Laboratory Corporation of America (Burlington, NC).

#### **FASTING INSULIN (C-PEPTIDE)**

On the same day of the OGTT, a blood sample was obtained via antecubital venipuncture for analysis of c-peptide. Blood samples were evaluated by Laboratory Corporation of America (Burlington, NC).

#### **NEUROMUSCULAR ELECTRICAL STIMULATION PROTOCOL**

All participants received NMES intervention at the UTEP Metabolism, Nutrition, & Exercise Research (MiNER) Laboratory, with the QuadStar® II Digital Multi-Modality Combo Device (TENS-INF-NMS) (BioMedical Life Systems, Vista, CA) and eight 2" x 2" square electrodes (BioMedical Life Systems, Vista, CA). Electrodes were placed, shown in **Figure 6**,



Figure 6. Electrode Placement. A) Frontal view. B) Lateral view

bilaterally in the proximal location of the quadriceps motor point using anatomical reference points. [204, 205, 206] The stimulation device was set to cycled biphasic waveform with pulse duration of 300µs and frequency set to 50Hz. Participants assigned to the NMES group received stimulation up to maximum tolerable levels and those assigned to Control received stimulation on the lowest possible setting (sensory level: described previously as a tingling sensation. [43]

### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism, version 7.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). Two-way ANOVA with repeated measures was used to compare groups (control, and NMES), time (before and after), and group by time effects. For all comparisons, a p < 0.05 was considered significant, and values are means  $\pm$  SEM. Considering this is a proof-of-concept/pilot study with very small sample size, we have also performed additional analyses using paired t-test to understand the effectiveness of NMES on primary outcome measures of the study.

### RESULTS

Table 4 summarizes the participant's baseline characteristics and outcomes following four weeks of NMES. At baseline, age, weight, BMI, body composition, fasting glucose, lipid profile, RMR, and strength were not significantly different between control and NMES groups.

Table 4.	Descrip	ptive	Characte	ristics

	Cor	ntrol group			NMES					
		(n=5)			(n=5)					
	1)	VI/F: 1/4)		(	M/F: 1/4)					
-	Baseline	Post-Intervention	p-value	Baseline	Post-Intervenion	p-value	C vs N	Group	Time	Interaction
	Mean SEM	Mean SEM		Mean SEM	Mean SEM		Baseline	p-value	p-value	p-value
Age (years)	42.20 ± 4.953786			30.33 ± 4.499383						
Blood Pressure										
Systolic (mmHg)	104.40 ± 0.509902	103.60 ± 2.158703	0.9794	112.00 ± 6.284903	102.40 ± 3.854867	0.1071	0.2625315	0.4997	0.1239	0.1839
Diastolic (mmHg)	69.60 ± 2.657066	68.60 ± 1.749286	0.96	79.60 ± 6.087693	68.00 ± 4.266146	0.032	0.1706126	0.3783	0.0479	0.0853
Body Composition										
Height (cm)	162.84 ± 5.502196			163.09 ± 2.092271						
Body weight (kg)	87.18 ± 5.851957	86.66 ± 6.224757	0.6578	87.22 ± 7.121475	86.76 ± 7.313248	0.7179	0.9966438	0.9942	0.2851	0.9458
BMI (kg/m²)	32.84 ± 1.449375	32.65 ± 1.511019	0.7092	32.70 ± 2.294233	32.47 ± 2.380828	0.5224	0.9599886	0.9571	0.2246	0.8311
Waist circumference	101.05 ± 3.338989	98.80 ± 4.278304	0.3418	96.10 ± 4.733333	95.63 ± 5.543615	0.9485	0.4179548	0.5395	0.2547	0.4441
Hip circumference	114.99 ± 2.864966	112.70 ± 1.856221	0.1301	115.80 ± 4.571166	115.27 ± 4.607542	0.8676	0.8850271	0.7508	0.1025	0.2841
Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR)	0.88 ± 0.015142	0.88 ± 0.030947	0.9871	0.83 ± 0.022497	0.83 ± 0.029837	0.9985	0.1096567	0.1965	0.8923	0.9468
Lean mass (kg)	48.55 ± 5.540353	47.98 ± 5.565273	0.1432	47.30 ± 4.291417	46.77 ± 4.241068	0.1773	0.8630198	0.8651	0.0232	0.9213
Fat mass (kg)	35.73 ± 2.189951	35.61 ± 1.991273	0.9723	37.02 ± 3.543103	37.21 ± 3.937885	0.9285	0.7641366	0.7441	0.9254	0.6969
Body fat (%)	42.94 ± 3.005761	43.20 ± 2.831784	0.7848	43.82 ± 1.950743	44.12 ± 2.290502	0.7266	0.8121872	0.809	0.3537	0.9457
Androd % fat	51.32 ± 2.737408	52.16 ± 2.392196	0.421	48.72 ± 2.972776	50.04 ± 3.407873	0.1548	0.5379771	0.5785	0.0494	0.6211
Gynoid % fat	42.22 ± 3.104416	42.78 ± 2.943026	0.1357	47.58 ± 3.019834	47.06 ± 3.110723	0.1694	0.2509491	0.2951	0.9186	0.0216
A/G ratio	1.23 ± 0.045343	1.23 ± 0.043012	0.962	1.04 ± 0.077756	1.07 ± 0.077679	0.0991	0.0677835	0.0855	0.109	0.1871
Lean leg mass (kg)	16.61 ± 1.886488	16.29 ± 1.905105	0.1239	16.58 ± 1.913354	16.29 ± 1.914953	0.1592	0.991247	0.9948	0.0193	0.9085
Lipid Panel										
Total Cholesterol (mmon/L)	188.40 ± 11.77115	199.40 ± 10.28397	0.1365	183.80 ± 17.35339	191.20 ± 18.70936	0.3578	0.8318546	0.7665	0.0391	0.6426
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	169.00 ± 31.72538	144.80 ± 9.866104	0.5069	162.20 ± 37.08558	191.20 ± 26.05264	0.9995	0.8926312	0.8823	0.4646	0.443
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	42.40 ± 5.095096	45.20 ± 6.748333	0.4533	45.80 ± 2.332381	45.20 ± 1.019804	0.9607	0.5608332	0.785	0.5202	0.329
VLDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	33.80 ± 6.374951	29.00 ± 2.04939	0.5256	32.40 ± 7.44043	32.40 ± 5.221111	0.9999	0.8899128	0.895	0.4666	0.4666
LDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	112.20 ± 7.927168	125.20 ± 8.033679	0.0307	105.60 ± 11.28982	113.60 ± 14.07338	0.1829	0.6451411	0.5543	0.0008	0.4288
Substrate Utilization										
Resting metabolic rate (Kcal)	1801.27 ± 153.2034	1902.08 ± 130.4259	0.5372	2050.82 ± 214.2476	1927.74 ± 204.3599	0.4091	0.3711417	0.5884	0.8724	0.1342
Fasting substrate utilization (RQ)	0.78 ± 0.017837	0.73 ± 0.022258	0.2609	0.78 ± 0.017382	0.78 ± 0.015483	0.8538	0.9953947	0.0996	0.4522	0.1659
Strength Parameters										
Peak TQ/BW Right Leg (%)	182.87 ± 20.70344	176.79 ± 22.47135	0.6507	163.18 ± 17.85136	160.77 ± 20.77052	0.9321	0.4917916	0.5497	0.415	0.7192
Peak TQ/BW Left Leg (%)	167.43 ± 21.96707	173.47 ± 18.55206	0.3934	163.37 ± 17.07677	155.56 ± 16.65439	0.234	0.8877791	0.6863	0.7909	0.0637
Work to Fatigue Right Leg (%)	0.66 ± 4.727196	-3.18 ± 3.511704	0.9989	-123.40 ± 130.1917	10.39 ± 2.31734	0.3249	0.3688387	0.4282	0.3406	0.3145
Work to Fatigue Left Leg (%)	9.11 ± 1.279731	8.50 ± 6.082004	0.9938	7.29 ± 3.895017	2.81 ± 5.370313	0.7213	0.6699917	0.4624	0.5615	0.6568
Insulin Sensitivity										
Fasting*	89.75 ± 6.66302	104.80 ± 13.2567	0.6967	96.00 ± 3.962323	93.00 ± 2.48998	0.4688	0.42494	0.5611	0.8479	0.2061
2 Hour Mark*	151.75 ± 6.142407	173.20 ± 34.17404	0.2827	150.90 ± 7.588478	138.20 ± 7.606905	0.1895	0.9356423	0.9055	0.0435	0.9496
AUC*	430.73 ± 20.22866	494.68 ± 77.21001	0.7624	455.55 ± 26.0663	415.36 ± 25.89178	0.0798	0.495091	0.7363	0.0653	0.2857
Lactate Accmulation										
Lactate AUC	0.83 ± 0.090602	0.90 ± 0.139489	0.8086	1.15 ± 0.16	1.29 ± 0.254093	0.6158	0.115067	0.1401	0.31	0.8243
Data are presented as mean + SEM	4 * indicates n = 4 for c	ontrol group holded to	evt renres	ent statistical significance n	0.05					

### Improvement in Insulin Sensitivity after 4 weeks of NMES

Fasting blood glucose, glucose level 15, 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 180 minutes after glucose ingestion during an OGTT, glucose AUC, and C-peptide were similar between groups at baseline (p>0.05). While no change in fasting glucose levels were observed (Figure 7A), there was a trend to decrease glucose AUC (p=0.07; Figure 7D) following four weeks of NMES (Table 4). Given the current study is a pilot/proof-of-concept study with small sample size and lacks the power to

detect changes between two groups, we also analyzed the data within the NMES group (paired ttest) to understand the clinical relevance of the effectiveness of NMES. There was a significant decrease in blood glucose level at minute 30 (p=0.03) and 120 (p=0.02; Figure 7C) and a trend to decrease at minute 15 (p=0.09) and 60 (p=0.08) (Figure 7B); the two-hour mark is used for clinical diagnosis of T2DM using OGTT. [207] Finally, there was a significant decrease in glucose AUC in the NMES group (p=0.029) following the four-week intervention. There was no change in Cpeptide in the control and NMES groups following four weeks of NMES (Table 4).





\* Significantly difference pre vs. post intervention.

# Acute and chronic effects of NMES on Energy Expenditure and Substrate utilization

There was no significant difference between control and NMES groups in resting energy expenditure and substrate utilization measured by RQ (Figure 8).



**Figure 8.** No change in resting energy expenditure (A) and substrate utilization (B) measured by indirect calorimetry, after 4 weeks of NMES.

There was no significant change in energy expenditure and RQ during NMES compared to BL (Figure 9A and 9B). However, when compared within only NMES group, average energy expenditure during NMES was significantly greater during session 12 compared to session 1 (p=0.04; Figure 10).



**Figure 9.** Acute effects of NMES on energy expenditure (A), respiratory exchange ratio (RER) (B) lactate concentration (C) and lactate AUC (D) measured during session 1 and session 12 of the intervention.

\* Significantly different compared to baseline

# Significantly different between control and NMES groups

Lactate concentration significantly increased during minute 5 (p=0.002) and minute 15 (p=0.04) in the NMES group compared to resting lactate level (Figure 9C). Moreover, lactate concentration after 5 min of NMES stimulation was also greater compared to the control group (p=0.02) (Figure 9C). Finally, lactate AUC assessed during 30 min of NMES was significantly greater compared to that of control group (p<0.02; Figure 9D).

## Average Energy Expenditure/Body Weight



Figure 10. Increase in average energy expenditure measured during session 12 compared to session 1

\* Significantly different session 1 vs session 12.

### No Change in Body Composition after 4 weeks of NMES

Body weight, BMI, waist circumference, hip circumference, WHR, blood pressure, body mass, fat mass, percent body fat, lean mass, lean leg mass, android percent fat, gynoid percent ft, and android to gynoid (A/G) fat ratio were similar between groups at baseline (Table 4). There were no changes in these parameters following four weeks of NMES (Figure 11 and 12). There was a trend to decrease systolic blood pressure (p=0.1) and a significant decrease in diastolic pressure (p=0.03) in the NMES group following four weeks of intervention (Table 4). There were no changes in blood pressure in the control group. Peak torque per body weight (TQ/BW) and work to fatigue in both legs were similar between groups at baseline (Table 4.) There was no change in peak TQ/BW in both legs or work to fatigue in the left leg following four weeks of NMES. However, work to fatigue in the right leg significantly increased (p=0.04) following four weeks.



Figure 11. There was no change in body weight (A), percent body fat (B), lean mass (C) or fat mass (D) following 4 weeks of NMES.



**Figure 12.** There was no change in waist, hip circumference and WHR (A) and android, gynoid percent fat, and A/G ratio (B) following 4 weeks of NMES

### No Change in Lipid Profile after 4 weeks of NMES

### LIPID PANEL

Total cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL, VLDL, and LDL showed no difference between groups at baseline and showed no change following four weeks of NMES (Table 4).

#### Discussion

The primary purpose of this pilot study was to determine the effects of chronic NMES on insulin sensitivity, substrate utilization and muscle mass in a sedentary overweight/obese population with metabolic impairments. Our data indicates that four weeks of NMES resulted in improvement in insulin sensitivity, without any effect on resting substrate utilization and muscle mass. Moreover, we demonstrate greater lactate accumulation during acute application of NMES compared to sensory level stimulation (control group). To our knowledge this is the first comprehensive longitudinal study using NMES in an at-risk Mexican American population

This pilot study is of high clinical significance demonstrating improvement in glucose tolerance after only four weeks of NMES treatment (30min/session, 3x/wk, at 50Hz) in a high-risk overweight and obese predominantly Mexican-American population. Two small studies by Hamada et al. [47, 48] investigated the acute effects of NMES, in a healthy all-male population, during a single NMES session for 20 min at 20Hz. The GDR, measured by clamp, in this study increased during stimulation and remained elevated for at least 90 minutes after cessiation of NMES (recovery period). [47, 48] Jabbour et al. 2015, performed two sessions of electrical stimulation at 8Hz up to tolerable intensity during the first hour of OGTT. After obtaining two blood samples, at minute 60 and 120 of OGTT testing, the study reported a significantly lower blood glucose after NMES treatment compared to the control sessions. This study also showed a positive correlation between NMES stimulation intensity and degree of decrease in blood glucose levels in individuals with T2DM [45]. Few longitudinal studies that investigated the effects of NMES in patients with T2DM, reported improvement in insulin sensitivity. An increase in insulin response in patients with T2DM was reported after 2 weeks of NMES treatment (50Hz of quadriceps stimulation) without any change in lipid profile. [43] A pilot study by Joubert et al. 2015, performed four weeks of quadriceps stimulation at 35Hz, in a T2DM population, and reported an increase in insulin sensitivity measured by hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp. [46] Furthermore, Catalogna et al. 2016 reported an improvement in blood glucose control in patients

with T2DM after daily five minute stimulation for eight weeks at 16Hz on the lower extremity [44]. Overall, there was a decrease in fasting glucose, lower serum cortisol level, and mean HbA1c level. The study also showed decrease in postpradial blood glucose after breakfast after eight weeks. [44] In 2018 Miyamoto et al. evaluated lower limb electrical stimulation for eight weeks, 40 min/session, 5x/wk at 4 Hz, in T2DM population. [50] The study reported a significantly greater percent change in the fasting glucose concentration and significantly greater percent change in body fat in NMES than in control. Our results are in agreement with these studies conducted in a T2DM population indicating the effective method to improve insulin sensitivity. However, we demonstrate the effectiveness of NMES to improve insulin sensitivity in an at-risk predominantly Mexican-American overweight and obese population without T2DM. Moreover, we show a significant improvement in glucose tolerance 2 hours after the consumption of glucose drink during an OGTT test; supporting the use of NMES as a clinically relevant strategy to improve glucose metabolism in an overweight or obese population. These improvements were observed without any change in resting substrate utilization or body composition - suggesting possible role of muscle contraction induced insulin independent glucose uptake pathway. Future investigation should evaluate the mechanism of muscle contraction induced improvement in insulin sensitivity. Our study, for the first time shows improvement in insulin sensitivity using OGTT with as little as 4 weeks of NMES in an overweight and obese population without type 2 diabetes.

Acute NMES has generally been shown to increase energy expenditure and carbohydrate utilization in a variety of populations (heathy, recreationally active, obese adults and T2DM population) using varying stimulation frequencies and durations (5-75Hz, 20-60 minutes). [47, 48, 66, 64, 67, 68]. Hultmans and Spriet (1986) reported an increase in oxidative metabolism, measured by muscle fibers after an acute session for 45 minutes, at 20Hz on quadriceps in a healthy population. [24] RQ measured during a single bout of stimulation session at 75Hz in healthy males showed an increase in RQ. [64] Only study to our knowledge conducted in an obese population, examined the acute effects of one-hour low frequency stimulation (5Hz) to the quadriceps and hamstring muscles and reported an increased oxygen uptake, RER, energy expenditure, lactate,

heart rate and carbohydrate oxidation. [66] Hamada et al. 2004 compared the effects of 20 minutes of stimulation at 20Hz to the lower leg muscles (tibialis anterior and triceps surae) and the thigh (quadriceps and hamstrings) to a single bout of 20 minutes of cycling. [47] Authors reported a greater carbohydrate use, measured by elevated RER and lactate, and an increase in oxygen uptake during stimulation as well as an increased glucose uptake during stimulation and recovery. [47] The study also found similarities to the study done by Grosset et al. 2013 such as an increase in oxygen uptake, heart rate, lactate and RER at the onset of stimulation but not with exercise. [66, 47] These findings suggest an increased energy expenditure, alongside increased glucose utilization during stimulation. Miyamoto et al. [67, 68] investigated the acute effect of lower limb NMES for 30 minutes at 4Hz 30 minutes after a standard meal on T2DM population. Both studies found blood glucose concentration in the NMES group was significantly lower compared to the control group at minute 60, 90, and 120 after the meal. Oxygen uptake, RQ and lactate concentration were significantly higher in the NMES group compared to control. In our pilot study, NMES treatment increased energy expenditure and glucose utilization measured by increase in lactate accumulation during the duration of the stimulation. The increase in lactate accumulation compared to baseline indicating reliance on glucose utilizations is similar to two previous studies conducted by Hamada et al. [47, 48] in a healthy population. However, our study did not show an increase in RQ during the stimulation. Given the RQ represents the whole-body glucose utilization capacity, it is possible that our study is not appropriately powered to detect these changes in whole body substrate utilization within this small sample size. However, our study is the first, to our knowledge, that evaluated the long-term effect on substrate utilization in an overweight/obese population. Although we observed no improvement in resting energy expenditure and substrate utilization after 4 weeks of NMES, there was a significantly greater energy utilization during NMES during post intervention (12th session) compared to baseline (1st session) NMES stimulation, suggesting the role of stimulation intensity in increasing energy expenditure. NMES stimulation intensity was set to maximal tolerable level of the participants and was increased with progressing number of NMES sessions. This result agrees with a study done by Grosset et al. 2013. [66]

Our study also shows no change in body composition and leg muscle mass using DXA. Previous studies indicated increase in quadricep muscle CSA measured by MRI [91, 89], muscle fiber CSA by muscle biopsy [18], CSA of the midthigh by tomography [90], and MRS [89]. Only one study, to the best of our knowledge, measured whole body composition using DXA and reported an increase in muscle mass after 10 weeks of NMES in a SCI population. [81]. Majority of the studies reported an increase in muscle CSA/mass after NMES were conducted in populations with SCI, chronic heart failure, and end-stage osteoarthritis where habitual movement is impacted. Griffin et al. 2009, showed an increase in muscle power and work and a 4% increase in lean muscle mass by DXA using cycling functional electrical stimulation for 10 weeks in a SCI population. [81] Two other studies in patients with SCI found an increase in total work output for 30 min/session, 3x/wk, for eight weeks at 30Hz [94] and increases in other variables of power, muscle fiber area, and capillarization for 2-3x/week for ten weeks at 50Hz [81]. Two studies, in participants with chronic heart failure, found an increase in gastrocnemius muscle mass after five weeks [89] and an increase in CSA after eight weeks with NMES (50Hz) [90]. After 6 weeks of NMES (50Hz) in patients with end-stage osteoarthritis also found increases in muscle CSA [91]. Few studies that focused on evaluating the effect of NMES in a healthy population reposted increases in muscle fiber CSA after four [83] and eight weeks [18] of NMES. However, Martin et al. [86] reported no change in muscle CSA in healthy individuals after four weeks of NMES, which could have been attributed to short session time (10min) compared to others (ranging from 16-34min) [83, 84, 85, 87]. Two other studies reported no change in CSA in patients with lower limb or knee joint injury/surgery, with two frequency groups of intensities in each, 20 and 80Hz for 12 weeks [92] and 50 and 100Hz for four weeks [93]. Our study evaluated the effects of NMES in relatively healthy population without habitual movement impairment. Here we have reported improvement in insulin sensitivity without these adaptations in substrate utilization or muscle mass. Given most of the studies that has reported an increase in muscle mass, measuring CSA by

MRI, muscle biopsy, tomography, and MRS, are either in a diseased population (SCI, chronic heart failure etc.) [81, 89, 90, 91] has used a longer duration (4 to 10 wks) [83, 86, 89, 91, 97, 90, 81] or frequency (10Hz to 120Hz) [89, 90, 91, 81, 86, 97, 83] of electrical stimulation. It is possible that NMES induced improvements is only effective in population at a greater risk for muscle atrophy. The primary outcome of our study is an improvement in insulin sensitivity in an at-risk overweight/obese population using an effective stimulation frequency and allowing the participant to use the tolerable intensity to ensure adherence. Therefore, it is possible that the study duration (4 weeks) and or the stimulation (50Hz) is not adequate to see changes in muscle mass within this small sample size. Our study is the first, to our knowledge, to measure android, gynoid fat, A/G ratio, and visceral adipose tissue. Visceral fat is strongly linked to metabolic disease and insulin resistance. [208] There was no change in android, gynoid fat, A/G ratio, and visceral fat, however, an improvement in insulin sensitivity in this population without a change in muscle mass or substrate utilization indicates possible local effects of muscle contraction induced signaling pathways to improve glucose uptake.

*In vivo* studies by ES, have shown that increase in blood flow in a muscle cell is important for increasing rate of glucose uptake during muscle contraction [42]. Our study indicates an improvement in insulin sensitivity in overweight or obese population after four weeks of NMES, without concurrent changes in substrate utilization or muscle mass. Furthermore, the pilot study shows a trend towards improvement in systolic blood pressure and a significant decrease in diastolic blood pressure. Although we did not measure the effects of NMES on blood flow in this study, based on the literature indicating increase in blood flow with NMES [42], we speculate increase in blood flow to stimulated muscles, may play a role in overall decrease in diastolic blood pressure in this population. Future studies should investigate the possible mechanism relevant to hemodynamics aspects of NMES.

In addition to traditional insulin dependent glucose uptake pathway, an alternate insulin independent glucose uptake pathway (muscle contraction) has been well established, (see Figure 4). [175, 168, 176, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183] Our laboratory and others have shown an

increase in GLUT 4 protein, AMPK and glucose uptake after electrical stimulation induced muscle contraction on human primary muscle cells (*in vitro*). [35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 33, 34] current study translates these findings in human subjects suggesting an improvement in glucose tolerance possibly due to local effect of muscle contraction without changes in metabolic markers and muscle mass. As overweight/obese Hispanic individuals are at a greater risk for developing T2DM compared with other races. [4, 1, 7, 8, 9, 6, 3], NMES holds the potential to provide an alternative strategy to improve insulin sensitivity for this population and possibly for obese individuals who are at high-risk for developing T2DM and are unable to perform traditional exercise.

Our study is limited by small sample size. However, this pilot/proof-of-concept study provides compelling evidence for considering NMES as an alternative mechanism to increase insulin sensitivity in an at-risk Mexican American population. Another limitation of this study is that fasting insulin was not obtained. Despite having these limitations, one of the strengths of this study is the use of OGTT to assess insulin sensitivity and in evaluating the chronic effect of NMES. In addition, this study was conducted in an overweight/obese Mexican-American population who are at high-risk for developing T2DM.

In summary, we have demonstrated that four weeks of NMES (12 sessions) improves glucose tolerance in a sedentary overweight and obese population. NMES led to acute increase in energy expenditure and glucose utilization, evident by increase in lactate concentration, during the NMES stimulation. However, this adaption in glucose tolerance was possible without any improvement in resting substrate utilization and muscle mass. Future studies should evaluate the mechanisms of muscle contraction induced improvement in insulin sensitivity to develop alternate strategies to improve metabolic health in a sedentary, at-risk population.

### References

- 1. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Adult Obesity Facts [https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html]
- Cowie CC, Casagrande SS, Geiss LS: Diabetes in America. In: *Diabetes in America*. 3 edn. Edited by Cowie CC, Casagrande SS, Menke A, Cissell MA, Eberhardt MS, Meigs JB, Gregg EW, Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Becker DJ *et al*. Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease; 2018:32.
- 3. **The State of Obesity in Texas** [https://stateofobesity.org/states/tx/]
- 4. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Adult Obesity Prevalence Maps, 2019 [https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/prevalence-maps.html]
- 5. Americas Health Rankings: Diabetes Annual Report, 2019 [https://www.americashealthrankings.org/explore/annual/measure/Diabetes/state/TX]
- 6. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Diagnosed Diabetes, 2017 [https://gis.cdc.gov/grasp/diabetes/DiabetesAtlas.html]
- The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017 [https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/national-diabetes-statisticsreport.pdf]
- Healthy Paso Del Norte: Adults who are Obese, 2017 [http://www.healthypasodelnorte.org/indicators/index/view?indicatorId=54&localeId=26 45&localeChartIdxs=1%7C2%7C4]
- Healthy Paso Del Norte: Adulats with Diabetes, 2017 [http://www.healthypasodelnorte.org/indicators/index/view?indicatorId=81&localeId=26 45&localeTypeId=2&periodId=242]
- 10. Tresierras MA, Balady GJ: **Resistance training in the treatment of diabetes and obesity**. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention* 2009, **29**(2): 67-75.
- 11. The Centers for Disease Control: Heart Disease Facts, 2017 [https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/facts.htm]
- 12. American Diabetes Association: New Recommendations on Physical Activity and Exercise for people with Diabetes, 2016 [http://www.diabetes.org/newsroom/press-releases/2016/ada-issues-new-recommendations-on-physical-activity-and-exercise.html]
- 13. American College of Sports Medicine. (2014). ACSM's **Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription**, Ninth edn: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2013.
- 14. Ogilvie RP, Zabetian A, Mokdad AH, Narayan KMV: Lifestyle characteristics among people with diabetes and prediabetes. In: *diabetes in America*. 3 edn. Edited by Cowie CC, Casagrande SS, Menke A, Cissell MA, Eberhardt MS, Meigs JB, Gregg EW, Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Becker DJ *et al.* Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease; 2018:1-42
- 15. Eves ND, Plotnikoff RC: Resistance training and type 2 diabetes: Consideration for implementation at the population level. *Diabetes Care* 2006, **29**(8):1933-41
- 16. Wanko NS, Brazier CW, Young-Rogers D, Dunbar VG, Boyd B, George CD, Rhee MK, el-Kebbi IM, Cook CB: Exercise preferences and barriers in urban Aferican American with type 2 diabetes. *The Diabetes Educator* 2004, **30**(3):502-513
- 17. Khaw K, Wareham N, Luben R, Bingham S, Oakes S, Welch A, Day N: Glycated haemoglobin, diabetes, and mortality in men in norfolk cohort of European

prospective investigation of cancer and nutrition (EPIC-Norfolk). *BMJ* 2001, **322**(7277): 15-18.

- 18. Gondin J, Brocca L, Bellinzona E, D'Antona G, Maffiuletti NA, Miotti D, Pellegrino MA, Bottinelli R: Neuromuscular electrical stimulation training induces atypical adaptations of the human skeletal muscle phenotype: a functional and proteomic analysis. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2011, 110(2): 433-450.
- 19. Lake DA: Neuromuscular electrical stimulation. An overview and its application in the treatment of sports injuries. *Sports Medicine* 1992, **13**: 320-336.
- 20. Omura Y: Basic electrical parameters for safe and effective electrotherapeutics. [electroacupuncture, TES, TENMS (or TEMS), TENS and electromagnetic field stimulation with or without drug field] for pain neuromuscular skeletal problems and circulatory disturbances. Acupuncture Electrotherapy 1987, 12: 201-225.
- 21. Theriault R, Boulay M, Theriault G, Simoneau J: Electrical stimulation-induced changes in performance and fiber type proportion of human knee extensor muscles. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 1996, **74**(4): 311-317.
- 22. Bickel CS, Gregory CM, Dean JC: Motor unit recruitment during neuromuscular electrical stimulation: a critical appraisal. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 2011, 111(10):2399-2407.
- 23. Gregory CM, Bickel CS: Recruitment patterns in human skeletal muscle during electrical stimulation. *Physical Therapy* 2005, **85**(4):358-364.
- 24. Hultman E, Spriet L: Skeletal muscle metabolism, contraction force and glycogen utilization during prolonged electrical stimulation in humans. *Journal of Physiology* 1986, **374**(1):493-501.
- 25. Silverthorn DU, Ober WC, Garrison CW, Silverthorn AC, Johnson BR: Human physiology: an integrated approach: Pearson/Benjamin Cummings San Francisco, CA:; 2004
- 26. Ishii T, Yamakita T, Sat, T, Yokozeki T, Akima H, Funato K.: Resistance training improves insulin sensitivity in NIDDM subjects without altering maximal oxygen uptake. *Diabetes Care* 1998, 21(8): 1353-1355.
- 27. Khan S, Rupp J. The effect of exercise conditioning, diet, and drug therapy on glycosylated hemoglobin levels in type 2 (NIDDM) diabetics. *The Journal of Sports Medicine Physical Fitness* 1995, **35**(4): 281-8.
- 28. Sparks LM, Johannsen NM, Church TS, Earnest CP, Moonen-Kornips E, Moro C, et al. Nine months of combined training improves ex vivo skeletal muscle metabolism in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2013, 98(4): 1694-702.
- 29. Mavros Y, Kay S, Anderberg KA, Baker MK, Wang Y, Zhao R, et al. Changes in insulin resistance and HbA1c are related to exercise-mediated changes in body composition in older adults with type 2 diabetes: interim outcomes from the GREAT2DO trial. *Diabetes Care* 2013:DC\_122196.
- 30. Glynn EL, Piner LW, Huffman KM, Slentz CA, Elliot-Penry L, AbouAssi H, et al. Impact of combined resistance and aerobic exercise training on branched-chain amino acid turnover, glycine metabolism and insulin sensitivity in overweight humans. *Diabetologia* 2015, **58**(10): 2324-35.
- 31. Croymans DM, Paparisto E, Lee MM, Brandt N, Le BK, Lohan D, et al. **Resistance** training improves indices of muscle insulin sensitivity and β-cell function in

**overweight/obese, sedentary young men**. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2013, **115**(9): 1245-53.

- 32. Malin SK, Haus JM, Solomon TP, Blaszczak A, Kashyap SR, Kirwan JP. Insulin sensitivity and metabolic flexibility following exercise training among different obese insulin-resistant phenotypes. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism* 2013, **305**(10):E1292-E8.
- 33. Conde DA, Covington JD, Gamboa CA, King GA, Rustan AC, Bajpeyi S: Increase in mitochondrial content after electrical pulse stimulation is dependent on duration of stimulation. International Journal of Exercise Science: Conference Proceedings 2014, 2(6):44
- 34. Conde DA: Effects of electrical pulse stimulation on in vitro measurement of mitochondrial content and lipid in human myotubes. Open access theses & dissertations 2014
- 35. Nesher R, Karl IE, Kipnis DM: Dissociation of effects of insulin and contraction on glucose transport in rat epitrochlearis muscle. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology* 1985, 249(3):C226-C232.
- 36. Ploug T, Galbo H, Vinten J, Jorgensen M, Richter E: Kinetics of glucose transport in rat muscle: effects of insulin and contractions. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism 1987, 253(1):E12-E20.
- 37. Nikolic N, Bakke SS, Kase ET, Rudberg I, Halle IF, Rustan AC, Thoresen GH, Aas V: Electrical pulse stimulation of cultured human skeletal muscle cells as an In Vitro model of exercise. *PLoS One* 2012, 7(3): e33203
- 38. Aas V, Torbla S, Andersen MH, Jensen J, Rustan AC: Electrical stimulation improves isulin responses in a human skeletal muscle cell model of hyperglycemia. *Ann.NY.Acad Sci* 2002, 967: 506-515
- 39. Lambernd S, Taube A, Schober A, Platzbecker B, Gorgens S, Schlich R, Jeruschke K, Weiss J, Eckardt K, Eckel J: Contractile activity of human skeletal muscle cells prevents insulin resistance by inhibiting pro-inflammatory signalling pathways. *Diabetologia* 2012, 55: 1128-1139
- 40. Brown AE, Jones DE, Walker M, Newton JL: Abnormalities of AMPK activation and glucose uptake in cultured skeletal muscle cells from individuals with chronic fatigue syndrome. *PLoS One* 2015, **10**: e0122982
- 41. Feng YZ, Nikolic N, Bakke SS, Kase ET, Guderud K, Hjelmesaeth J, Aas V, Rustan AC, Thoresen GH: Myotubes from lean and severely obese subjects with and without type 2 diabetes respond differently to an in vitro model of exercise. American Journal of Physiology – Cell Physiology 2015, 308(7): C548-556.
- Hespel P, Vergauwen L, Vandenberghe K, Richter EA: Important role of insulin and flow in stimulating glucose uptake in contracting skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 1995, 44(2):210-215.
- 43. Sharma D, Shenoy S, Singh J: Effect of electrical stimulation on blood glucose level and lipid profile of sedentary type 2 diabetic patients. International Journal of Diabetes in Developing Countries 2010, 30(4).
- 44. Catalogna M, Doenyas-Barak K, Sagi R, Abu-Hamad R, Nevo U, Ben-Jacob E, Efrati S: Effect of Peripheral Electrical Stimulation (PES) on Nocturnal Blood Glucose in Type
   2 Diabetes: A Randomized Crossover Pilot Study. *PLoS One* 2016, 11(12):e0168805.

- 45. Jabbour G, Belliveau L, Probizanski D, Newhouse I, McAuliffe J, Jakobi J, Johnson M: Effect of Low Frequency Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation on Glucose Profile of Persons with Type 2 Diabetes: A Pilot Study. *Diabetes Metab J* 2015, **39**(3):264-267.
- 46. Joubert M, Metayer L, Prevost G, Morera J, Rod A, Cailleux A, Parienti JJ, Reznik Y: Neuromuscular electrostimulation and insulin sensitivity in patients with type 2 diabetes: the ELECTRODIAB pilot study. *Acta Diabetol* 2015, **52**(2):285-291.
- 47. Hamada T, Hayashi T, Kimura T, Nakao K, Moritani T: Electrical stimulation of human lower extremities enhances energy consumption, carbohydrate oxidation, and whole body glucose uptake. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2004, **96**(3): 911-916
- 48. Hamada T, Sasaki H, Hayashi T, Moritani T, Nakao K: Enhancement of whole body glucose uptake during and after human skeletal muscle low-frequency electrical stimulation. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2003, **94**(6):2107-2112.
- 49. Mahoney ET, Bickel CS, Elder C, Black C, Slade JM, Apple Jr D, Dudley GA: Changes in skeletal muscle size and glucose tolerance with electrically stimulated resistance training in subjects with chronic spinal cord injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2005, **86**(7): 1502-1504.
- 50. Miyamoto T, Iwakura T, Matsuoke N, Iwamoto M, Takenaka M, Akamatsu Y, Moritani T: Impact of prolonged neuromuscular electrical stimulation on metabolic profile and cognition-related blood parameters in type 2 diabetes: A randomized controlled corss-over trial. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2018, 142: 37-45.
- 51. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute: Metabolic Syndrome, 2019 https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/metabolic-syndrome
- 52. Kelley DE, Goodpaster B, Wing RR, Simoneau J-A: Skeletal muscle fatty acid metabolism in association with insulin resistance, obesity, and weight loss. Endocrinology and Metabolism 1999, 277(6) E1130-E1141
- 53. Prior SJ, Ryan AS, Stevenson TG, Goldberg AP. Metabolic inflexibility during submaximal aerobic exercise is associated with glucose intolerance in obese older adults. Obesity 2014, 22(2): 451-7. Epub 2013/08/29. doi: 10.1002/oby.20609. PubMed PMID: 23983100; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3875833.
- 54. Sparks LM, Ukropcova B, Smith J, Pasarica M, Hymel D, Xie H, et al. **Relation of** adipose tissue to metabolic flexibility. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*. 2009;83(1):32-43.
- 55. Galgani JE, Moro C, Ravussin E. **Metabolic flexibility and insulin resistance**. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism*. 2008;295(5):E1009-E17.
- 56. Braith RW, Stewart KJ: Resistance exercise training: Its role in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. American Heart Association Journal 2006, 113(22): 2642– 2650.
- 57. Holten MK, Zacho M, Gaster M, Juel C, Wojtaszewski JFP., Dela F: Strength training increases insulin-mediated glucose uptake, GLUT4 content, and insulin signaling in skeletal muscle in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2004, **53**(2): 294-305.
- 58. Tabata I, Suzuki Y, Fukunaga T, Yokozeki T, Akima H, Funato K: **Resistance training affects GLUT-4 content in skeletal muscle of humans after 19 days of head-down bed rest.** *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1999, **86**(3): 909-914.
- 59. Derave W, Eijnde BO, Verbessem P, Ramaekers M, Van Leemputte M, Richter EA, Hespel P: Combined creatine and protein supplementation in conjunction with

**resistance training promotes muscle GLUT-4 content and glucose tolerance in humans.** *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2003, **94**(5): 1910-1916.

- 60. Durak EP, Jovanovic-Peterson L, Peterson CM: Randomized cross-over study of effect of resistance training on glycemic control, muscular strength, and cholesterol in type 1 diabetic men. *Diabetes Care* 1990, **13**(10): 1039-1043.
- 61. Jamurtas AZ, Koutedakis Y, Paschalis V, Tofas T, Yfanti C, Tsiokanos A, Koukoulis G, Kouretas D, Loupos D: *Europian Journal of Applied Physiology* 2004, **92**: 393-398
- 62. Talanian JL, Galloway SDR, Heigenhauser GJF, Bonen A, Spriet LL: Two weeks of highintensity aerobic interval training increases the capacity for fat oxidation during exercise in women. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2007, **102**: 1439-1447
- 63. Ghanassia E, Brun JF, Fedou C, Eaynaud E, Mercier J: Substrate oxidation during exercise: type 2 diabetes is associated with a decrease in lipid odixation and an earlier shift towards carboydrate utilization. *Diabetes Metabolisam* 2006, **32**: 604-610
- 64. Theurel J, Lepers R, Pardon L, Maffiuletti NA. Differences in cardiorespiratory and neuromuscular responses between voluntary and stimulated contractions of the quadriceps femoris muscle. *Respiratory Physioligy & Neurobiology* 2007, 157(2-3): 341-7
- 65. Kemmler W, Von Stengel S, Schwarz J, Mayhew JL: Effect of whole-body electromyostimulation on energy expenditure during exercise. *Journal of Strength* and Conditioning Research 2012. **26**(1):240-245
- 66. Grosset JF, Crowe L, De Vito G, O'Shea D, Caulfield B: **Comparative effect of a 1 h** session of electrical muscle stimulation and walking activity on energy expenditure and substrate oxidation in obese subjects. *Applied Phyiology, Nutirtion, and Metabolism* 2013. **38**(1):57-65
- 67. Miyamoto T, Fukuda K, Kimura T, Matsubara Y, Tsuda K, Moritani T: Effect of percutaneous electrical muscle stimulation on postprandial hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2012, **96**: 306-312
- 68. Miyamoto T, Fukuda K, Watanabe K, Hidaka M, Moritani T: Gender difference in metabolic responses to surface electrical muscle stiumulation in type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology* 2015, **25**(1): 136-142
- 69. Yki-Jarvinen H, Koivisto VA: Effects of body composition on insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes* 1983, **32**(10): 965-969.
- 70. Takala T, Nuutila P, Knuuti J, Luotolahti M, Yki-Jarvinen H: **Insulin action on heart and skeletal muscle glucose uptake in weight lifters and endurance athletes**. *American Journal of Applied Physiology* 1999, **276**(4): e706-e711.
- 71. Cauza E, Enserer UH, Strasser B, Ludvik B, Schimmerl, SM, Pacini G, Wagner O, Georg P, Prager R, Kostner K, Dunky A, Haber P. The relative benefits of endurance and strength training on the metabolic factors and muscle function of people with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Archive of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2005, 86: 1527-33
- 72. Meex RC, Schrauwen-Hinderling VB, Moonen-Kornips E, Schaart G, Mensink M, Phielix E, van de Weijer T, Sels JP, Schrauwen P, Hesselink MK: Restoration of muscle metochondrial function and metabolic flexibility in type 2 diabetes by exercise training in paralleled by increased myocellular fat storage and improved insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes* 2010, 49(3): 572-579

- 73. Dunstan DW, Daly RM, Owen N, Jolley D, De Courten M, Shaw J: High-intensity resistance training improves glycemic control in older patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2002, **25**(10): 1729-1736, 2002.
- 74. Van Der Heijden G-j, Wang ZJ, Chu Z, Toffolo G, Manesso E, Sauer PJ: **Strength exercise improves muscle mass and hepatic insulin sensitivity in obese youth.** *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2010, **11**: 1973
- 75. Misra A, Alappan NK, Vikram NK, Goel K, Gupta N, Mittal K: Effect of supervised progressive resistance-exercise training protocol on insulin sensitivity, glycemia, lipids, and body composition in Asian Indians with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes are*. 2008, 31(7):1282-7.
- 76. Ibañez J, Izquierdo M, Argüelles I, Forga L, Larrión JL, García-Unciti M: Twice-weekly progressive resistance training decreases abdominal fat and improves insulin sensitivity in older men with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2005, **28**(3):662-7.
- 77. Ross R, Janssen I, Dawson J, Kungl AM, Kuk JL, Wong SL: Exercise-induced reduction in obesity and insulin resistance in women: a randomized controlled trial. *Obesity* 2004, **12**(5):789-98.
- 78. Duncan GE, Perri MG, Theriaque DW, Hutson AD, Eckel RH, Stacpoole PW. Exercise training, without weight loss, increases insulin sensitivity and postheparin plasma lipase activity in previously sedentary adults. *Diabetes Care* 2003, **26**(3):557-62.
- 79. Brooks N, Layne JE, Gordon PL, Roubenoff R, Nelson ME, Castaneda-Sceppa C: Strength training improves muscle quality and insulin sensitivity in Hipanic older adults with tyep 2 diabetes. International Journal of Medical Sciences 2007, 4(1): 19-27
- 80. Edwards R, Young A, Hosking G, Jones D. Human skeletal muscle function: description of tests and normal values. *Clinical Science*. 1977, **52**(3):283-90.
- 81. Griffin L, Decker MJ, Hwang JY, Wang B, Kitchen K, Ding Z, Ivy JL. Functional electrical stimulation cycling improves body composition, metabolic and neural factors in perons with spinal cord injury. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiolog* 2009, 19(4): 614-22
- 82. Chilibeck PD, Bell G, Jeon J, Weiss CB, Murdoch G, MacLean I, Ryan E, Burnham R: Functional electrical stimulation exercise increases GLUT-1 and GLUT-4 in paralyzed skeletal muscle. *Metabolism* 1999, 48(11): 1409-1413.
- Herrero J, Izquierdo M, Maffiuletti N, Garcia-Lopez J: Electromyostimulation and Plyometric training effects on jumping and sprint time. International Journal of Sports Medicine 2006, 27(7): 533-539
- 84. Maffiuletti M, Gometti C, Amiridis I, Martin A, Pousson M, Chatard J-C: The effects of electromyostimulation training and basketball practice on muscle strength and jumping ability. *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 2000, **21**(6): 437-443
- 85. Porcari, J., Ryskey, A., Foster, C: The effects of high intensity neuromuscular electrical stimulation on abdominal strength and endurance, core strength, abdominal girth, and perceived body shape and satification. International Journal of Kinesiology and Sports Science 2019, 6(1)
- 86. Martin L, Cometti G, Pousson M, Morlon B: The influence of electrostimulation on mechanical and morphological characteristics of the triceps surae. Journal of Sports Sciences 1994, 12(4): 377-381

- Gondin, J., Guette, M., Ballay, Y., Martin, A: Electromyostimulation training effects on neural drive and muscle architecture. *Medicine in Science in Sports Exercises* 2005, 37(8): 1291-1299
- 88. Neder JA, Sword D, Ward SA, Mackay E, Cochrane LM, Clark CJ: Home based neuromuscular electrical stimulation as a new rehabilitative strategy for severley disabled patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Thorax 2002, 57(4): 333-337
- 89. Jancik J, Siegelova J, Homolka P, Svacinova H, Palacheta P, Varnayova L, Kozantova L, Bobsak P, Dusek J, Fiser B: Low-frequency electrical stimulation of skeletal muscles in patients with chronic heart failure. *Scripta Medica (BRNO)* 2002, **75**(4):203-208
- 90. Quittan M, Wiesinger GF, Sturm B, Puig S, Mayr W, Sochor A, Paternostro T, Resch KL, Pacher R, Fialka-Moser V: Improvement of thigh muscles by neuromuscular electrical stimulation in patients with refractory heart failure: a single-blind, randomized, controlled trial. American Journal of Physical Medicine Rehabilitation 2001, 80(3): 206-214, 2001.
- 91. Walls RJ, McHugh G, O'Gorman DJ, Moyna NM, O'Byrne JM: Effects of preoperative neuromuscular electrical stimulation on quadriceps strength and fuctional recovery in total knee arthroplasty. A pilot study. *BMC musculuskeletal disorders* 2010, **11**(1): 119
- 92. Rebai, H., Barra, V., Laborde, A., Bonny, J-M., Poumarat, G., Coudert, J: Effects of two electrical stimulation frequencies in thigh muscle after knee surgery. *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 2002, 23(8): 604-609
- 93. Singer, KP: The influence of unilateral electrical muscle stimulation on motor unit activity patterns in atrophic human quadriceps. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy 1986, **32**(1):31-37
- 94. Chilibeck, P., Jeon, J., Weiss, C., Bell, G., & Burnham, R. Histochemical changes in muscle of individuals with spinal cord injury following functional electrical stimulated exercise training. Spinal Cord 1999, 37(4), 264–268
- 95. Vivodtzev I, Debigare R, Gagnon P, Mainguy V, Say D, Dube A, Pare ME, Belanger M, Maltais F: Functional and muscular effects of neuromuscular electrical stimulation in patients with severe COPD: a randomized clinical trial. *Chest* 2012, **141**(3): 716-725.
- 96. Crowe L, Caulfield B: Aerobic neuromuscular electrical stimulation—an emerging technology to improve haemoglobin A1c in type 2 diabetes mellitus: results of a pilot study. *BMJ* 2012, **2**(3).
- 97. Gondin J, Cozzone PJ, Bendahan D. Is high-frequency neuromuscular electrical stimulation a suitable tool for muscle performance improvement in both healthy humans and athletes? *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 2011, **111**:2473-2487
- 98. Vivodtzev I, Pepin JL, Vottero G, Mayer V, Porsin B, Levy P, Wuyam B. Improvement in quadriceps strength and dyspnea in daily tasks after 1 month of electrical stimulation in severely deconditioned and malnourished COPD. Chest 2006, 129(6): 1540-1548.
- 99. Stevens-Lapsley JE, Balter JE, Wolfe P, Eckhoff DG, Kohrt WM. Early neuromuscular electrical stimulation to improve quadriceps muscle strength after total knee arthroplasty: A randomized controlled trial. *Physical Therapy* 2012, **92**(2):210-226.
- 100. Powers SK, Howley ET: **Exercise physiology: Theory and application to fitness and performance**. Tenth edn: McGraw-Hill Education; 2018

- 101. Richter EA, Hargreaves M: **Exercise, GLUT4, and skeletal muscle glucose uptake**. *Physiological Reviews* 2013, **93**(3): 993-1017
- 102. Huang S, Czech MP: The GLUT4 glucose transporter. *Cell Metabolism* 2007, **5**(4): 237-252.
- 103. Brewer PD, Habtemichael EN, Romenskaia I, Mastick CC, Coster ACF: Insulinregulated glut4 translocation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2014, 289(25): 17298-17298.
- 104. McConell G, McCoy M, Proietto J, Hargreaves M: Skeletal muscle GLUT-4 and glucose uptake during exercise in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1994, 77(3): 1565–1568.
- 105. McCoy M, Proietto J, Hargreaves M: Skeletal muscle GLUT-4 and postexercise muscle glycogen storage in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1996, 80 (2): 411–415.
- 106. Kennedy JW, Hirshman MF, Gervino EV, Ocel JV, Force RA, Hoenig SJ, Aronson D, Goodyear LJ, Horton ES: Acute exercise induces GLUT4 translocation in skeletal muscle of normal human subjects and subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 1999, 48(5):1192-1197
- 107. Lucotti P, Monti LD, Setola E, Galluccio E, Gatti R, Bosi E, Piatti P: Aerobic and resistance training effects compared to aerobic training alone in obese type 2 diabetic patients on diet treatment. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2011, 94(3): 395-403
- 108. Tan S, Li W, Wang J: Effects of six months of combined aerobic and resistance training for elderly patients with a long history of type 2 diabetes. Journal of sports science & medicine 2012. 11(3):495
- 109. Jorge MLMP, de Oliveira VN, Resende NM, Paraiso LF, Calixto A, Diniz ALD, Resende ES, Ropelle ER, Carvalheira JB, Espindola FS: The effects of aerobic, resistance, and combined exercise on metabolic control, inflammatory markers, adipocytokines, and muscle insulin signaling in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 2011. 60(9): 1244-1252
- 110. Seo DI, So WY, Ha S, Yoo EJ, Kim D, Singh H, Fahs CA, Rossow L, Bemben DA, Bemben MG: Effects of 12 weeks of combined exercise training on visfatin and metabolic syndrome factors in obese middle-aged women. *Journal of sports science & medicine* 2011. 10(1): 222
- 111. Nassis GP, Papantakou K, Skenderi K, Triandafillopoulou M, Kavouras SA, Yannakoulia M, Chrousos GP, Sidossis LS: Aerobic exercise training improves insulin sensitivity without changes in body weight, body fat, adiponectin, and inflammatory markers in overweight and obese girls. *Metabolism* 2005. 54(11):1472-1479
- 112. Hersey WC, Graves JE, Pollock ML, Gingerich R, Shireman RB, Heath GW, Spierto F, McCole SD, Hagberg JM: Endurance exercise training improves body composition and plasma insulin responses in 70-to 79-year-old men and women. *Metabolism* 1994. 43(7): 847-854
- 113. Kim ES, Im JA, Kim KC, Park JH, Sun SH, Kang ES, Kim SH, Jekal Y, Lee CW, Yoon YJ: Improved insulin sensitivity and adiponectin level after exercise training in obese Korean youth. *Obesity* 2007. **15**(12):3023-3030

- 114. Brekke HK, Jansson P-A, Lenner RA: Long-term (1-and 2-year) effects of lifestyle intervention in type 2 diabetes relatives. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2005. 70(3):225-234
- 115. Yatagai T, Nishida Y, Nagasaka S, Nakamura T, Tokuyama K, Shindo M, Tanaka H, Ishibashi S: Relationship between exercise training-induced increase in insulin sensitivity and adiponectinemia in healthy men. *Endocrine Journal* 2003. 50(2):233-238
- 116. Tokmakidis SP, Zois CE, Volaklis KA, Kotsa K, Touvra A-M: The effects of a combined strength and aerobic exercise program on glucose control and insulin action in women with type 2 diabetes. European journal of applied phyisology 2004. 92(4-5):437-442
- 117. Shojaee-Moradie F, Baynes K, Pentecost C, Bell J, Thomas E, Jackson N, Stolinski M, Whyte M, Lovell D, Bowes S: Exercise training reduces fatty acid availability and improves the insulin sensitivity of glucose metabolism. *Diabetologia* 2007. 50(2):404-413
- 118. Richsrds JC, Johnson TK, Kuzma JN, Lonac MC, Schweder MM, Voyles WF, Bell C: Short-term sprint interval training increases insulin sensitivity in healthy adults but does not affect the thermogenic response to beta-adrenergic stimulation. *The journal* of physiology 2012. **588**(12):2961-2972
- 119. Wing RR, Benditti E, Jakicic JM, Polley BA, Lang W: Lifestyle intervention in overweight individuals with a family history of diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 1998. 21(3):350-359
- 120. Winnick JJ, Sherman WM, Habash DL, Stout MB, Failla ML, Belury MA, Schuster DP: Short-term aerobic exercise training in obese humans with type 2 diabetes mellitus improves whole-body insulin sensitivity through gains in peripheral, not hepatic insulin sensitivity. The journal of clinical endocrinology & metabolism 2008. 93(3):771-778
- 121. McCormack SE, McCarthy MA, Harrington SG, Farilla L, Hrovat MI, Systrom DM, Thomas BJ, Torriani M, McInnis K, Grinspoon SK: Effects of exercise and lifestyle modification on fitness, insulin resistance, skeletal muscle oxidative phosphorylation and intramyocellular lipid content in obese children and adolescents. *Pediatric obesity* 2014. 9(4):281-291
- 122. Andersen P, Saltin B: Maximal perfusion of skeletal muscle in man. *The Journal of Physiology* 1985, **366**(1):233-249.
- 123. Richter EA: Glucose Utilization. In: Handbook of Physiology Exercise: Regulation and Integration of Multiple Systems. edn. Bethesda, MD; 1996: 913-951.
- 124. Zinker BA, Lacy DB, Bracy D, Jacobs J, Wasserman DH: Regulation of glucose uptake and metabolism by working muscle: an in vivo analysis. *Diabetes* 1993, 42(7):956-965.
- 125. Perez-Martin A, Raynaud E, Mercier J: Insulin resistance and associated metabolic abnormalities in muscle: effects of exercise. *Obesity Reviews* 2001, **2**: 47-59
- 126. Rose AJ, Richter EA: Skeletal muscle glucose uptake during exercise: How is it regulated? *Physiology* 2005, **20**(4):260-270
- 127. Koopman R, Manders RJF, Zorenc AHG, Hul GBJ, Kuipers H, Keizer HA, Loon LJCV. A single session of resistance exercise enhances insulin sensitivity for at least 24 h in health men 2005, 94: 180-187.

- 128. Dirks ML, Wall BT, Van de Valk B, Holloway TM, Holloway GP, Chabowski A, Goossens GH, Van Loon LJ. One week of bed rest leads to substantial muscle atrophy and induces whole-body insulin resistance in the absence of skeletal muscle lipid accumulation. *Diabetes* 2016, **65**(10):2862-2875.
- 129. Dubé JJ, Coen PM, DiStefano G, Chacon AC, Helbling NL, Desimone ME, Stafanovic-Racic M, Hames KC, Despines AA, Toledo FG, Goodpaster BH. Effects of acute lipid overload on skeletal muscle insulin resistance, metabolic flexibility, and mitochondrial performance. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism 2014, 307(12):E1117-E24.
- 130. Martin BC, Warram JH, Krolewski A, Soeldner J, Kahn C, Bergman R. Role of glucose and insulin resistance in development of type 2 diabetes mellitus: results of a 25-year follow-up study. *The Lancet* 1992, **340**(8825):925-9.
- 131. Alberti K: Problems raised by the definition and epidemiology of type 2 (non-insulindependent) diabetes throughout the world. *Diabete & metabolisme* 1994, 20(3):315-324.
- 132. Cline GW, Petersen KF, Krssak M, Shen J, Hundal RS, Trajanoski Z, Inzucchi S, Dresner A, Rothman DL, Shulman GI: Impaired glucose transport as a cause of decreased insulin-stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis in type 2 diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine 1999, 341(4):240-246.
- 133. Shulman GI: Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans. *The American Journal of Cardiology* 1999, **84**(1):3-10.
- 134. Adams JM, Pratipanawatr T, Berria R, Wang E, DeFronzo RA, Sullards MC, Mandarino L: Ceramide content is increased in skeletal muscle from obese insulin-resistant humans. *Diabetes* 2004, 53(1):25-31.
- 135. Bajaj M, Suraamornkul S, Kashyap S, Cusi K, Mandarino L, DeFronzo RA: Sustained reduction in plasma free fatty acid concentration improves insulin action without altering plasma adipocytokine levels in subjects with strong family history of type 2 diabetes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2004, **89**(9):4649-4655.
- 136. Dohm GL, Tapscott EB, Pories WJ, Dabbs DJ, Flickinger EG, Meelheim D, Fushiki T, Atkinson SM, Elton CW, Caro JF: An in vitro human muscle preparation suitable for metabolic studies. Decreased insulin stimulation of glucose transport in muscle from morbidly obese and diabetic subjects. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1988, 82(2):486-494.
- 137. Ellis BA, Poynten A, Lowy AJ, Furler SM, Chisholm DJ, Kraegen EW, Cooney G: Long-chain acyl-CoA esters as indicators of lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity in rat and human muscle. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism* 2000, 279(3):E554-E560.
- 138. Hulver MW, Berggren JR, Cortright RN, Dudek RW, Thompson RP, Pories WJ, MacDonald KG, Cline GW, Shulman GI, Dohm GL: Skeletal muscle lipid metabolism with obesity. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism 2003, 284(4):E741-E747.
- 139. Schmitz-Peiffer C: **Protein kinase C and lipid-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscle**. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2002, **967**(1):146-157.

- 140. Straczkowski M, Kowalska I, Nikolajuk A, Dzienis-Straczkowska S, Kinalska I, Baranowski M, Zendzian-Piotrowska M, Brzezinska Z, Gorski J: **Relationship between insulin sensitivity and sphingomyelin signaling pathway in human skeletal muscle**. *Diabetes* 2004, **53**(5):1215-1221.
- 141. Timmers S, Schrauwen P, de Vogel J: Muscular diacylglycerol metabolism and insulin resistance. *Physiology & Behavior* 2008, **94**(2):242-251.
- 142. Turinsky J, O'Sullivan DM, Bayly BP: 1, 2-Diacylglycerol and ceramide levels in insulin-resistant tissues of the rat in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1990, 265(28):16880-16885.
- 143. Cortright RN, Azevedo Jr JL, Zhou Q, Sinha M, Pories WJ, Itani SI, Dohm GL: **Protein kinase C modulates insulin action in human skeletal muscle**. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism* 2000, **278**(3):E553-E562.
- 144. Hajduch E, Balendran A, Batty I, Litherland G, Blair A, Downes C, Hundal H:
  Ceramide impairs the insulin-dependent membrane recruitment of protein kinase B leading to a loss in downstream signalling in L6 skeletal muscle cells. *Diabetologia* 2001, 44(2):173-183.
- 145. Itani SI, Pories WJ, MacDonald KG, Dohm GL: Increased protein kinase C theta in skeletal muscle of diabetic patients. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental* 2001, 50(5):553-557.
- 146. Kelley DE, Mandarino LJ: **Fuel selection in human skeletal muscle in insulin resistance: a reexamination**. *Diabetes* 2000, **49**(5):677-683.
- 147. Letiges M, Plomann M, Standaert ML, Bandyopadhyay G, Sajan MP, Kanoh Y, Farese RV: **Knockout of PKCα enhances insulin signaling through PI3K**. *Molecular Endocrinology* 2002, **16**(4):847-858.
- 148. Yu C, Chen Y, Cline GW, Zhang D, Zong H, Wang Y, Bergeron R, Kim JK, Cushman SW, Cooney GJ: Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of IRS-1 associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2002, 277(52):50230-50236.
- 149. Fulcher G, Walker M, Catalano C, Farrer M, Alberti K: Acute metabolic and hormonal responses to the inhibition of lipolysis in non-obese patients with non-insulindependent (type 2) diabetes mellitus: effects of acipimox. *Clinical Science* 1992, 82(5):565-571.
- 150. Han D-H, Hansen PA, Host HH, Holloszy JO: Insulin resistance of muscle glucose transport in rats fed a high-fat diet: a reevaluation. *Diabetes* 1997, **46**(11):1761-1767.
- 151. McGarry JD: Banting lecture 2001: Dysregulation of fatty acid metabolism in the etiology of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2002, **51**(1):7-18.
- 152. Nascimento EB, Fodor M, van der Zon GC, Jazet IM, Meinders AE, Voshol PJ, Vlasblom R, Baan B, Eckel J, Maassen JA: **Insulin-mediated phosphorylation of the proline-rich Akt substrate PRAS40 is impaired in insulin target tissues of high-fat diet–fed rats**. *Diabetes* 2006, **55**(12):3221-3228.
- 153. Swai A, McLarty D, Mtinangi B, Tatala S, Kitange H, Mlingi N, Rosling H, Howlett W, Brubaker G, Alberti K: Diabetes is not caused by cassava toxicity: a study in a Tanzanian community. *Diabetes Care* 1992, 15(10):1378-1385.

- 154. Taylor R, Stewart M, Avery P, Humphriss D, Alberti K, Turnbull D, Walker M: Apolipoprotein E and familial non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *The Lancet* 1994, **344**(8919):406
- 155. Zierath JR, Houseknecht KL, Gnudi L, Kahn BB: High-fat feeding impairs insulinstimulated GLUT4 recruitment via an early insulin-signaling defect. *Diabetes* 1997, 46(2):215-223.
- 156. Martin I, Katz A, Wahren J: Splanchnic and muscle metabolism during exercise in NIDDM patients. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism 1995, 269(3):E583-E590.
- 157. Jessen N, Goodyear L: Contraction signaling to glucose transport in skeletal muscle. Journal of Applied Physiology 2005, 99(1):330-337.
- 158. Zierath JR. Exercise effects of muscle insulin signaling and action. Invited review: Exercise training-induced changes in insulin signaling in skeletal muscles. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2002, **93**: 773-781
- 159. Taniguchi CM, Emanuelli B, Kahn CR: Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2006, 7(2):85-96.
- 160. Shepherd PR: Mechanisms regulating phosphoinositide 3-kinase signalling in insulinsensitive tissues. *Acta Physiol Scand* 2005(183):3-12.
- 161. Alessi DR, James SR, Downes CP, Holmes AB, Gaffney PRJ, Reese CB, Cohen P. Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Bα. Current Biology 1997, 7(4): 261-269
- 162. Wu M, Falasca M, Blough ER: Akt/protein kinase B in skeletal muscle physiology and pathology. *J Cell Physiol* 2011, **226**(1):29-36.
- 163. Virkamaki A, Ueki K, Kahn CR: Protein-protein interactions in insulin signaling and the molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investifation* 1999. 103(7):931-943
- 164. Cho H, Mu J, Kim JK, Thorvaldsen JL, Chu Q, Crenshaw III EB, Kaestner KH, Bartolomei MS, Shulman GI, Birnbaum MJ: Insulin Resistance and a Diabetes Mellitus–Like Syndrome in Mice Lacking the Protein Kinase Akt2 (PKBbeta). Science 2001, 292(5522):1728-1731.
- 165. Sakamoto K, Holman GD: Emerging role for AS160/TBC1D4 and TBC1D1 in the regulation of GLUT4 traffic. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2008, 295(1):E29-37.
- 166.Bogan JS: Regulation of glucose transporter translocation in health and diabetes. Annual Review Biochemistry 2012, 81:507-532.
- 167. Chang L, Chiang S-H, Saltiel AR: Insulin signaling and the regulation of glucose transport. *Molecular medicine* 2004, **10**(7-12):65-71.
- 168. Frøsig C, Rose AJ, Treebak JT, Kiens B, Richter EA, Wojtaszewski JF: Effects of endurance exercise training on insulin signaling in human skeletal muscle: interactions at the level of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, Akt, and AS160. Diabetes 2007, 56(8):2093-2102.
- 169. Kramer HF, Witczak CA, Taylor EB, Fujii N, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ: AS160 regulates insulin-and contraction-stimulated glucose uptake in mouse skeletal muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2006, 281(42):31478-31485.

- 170. Braun B, Schneider U, Hasler P, Prünte C: **Combination therapy of PDT and triamcinolone in CNV associated with fundus flavimaculatus**. *Klinische Monatsblätter für Augenheilkunde* 2007, **224**(04):353-355.
- 171. Del Aguila LF, Krishnan RK, Ulbrecht JS, Farrell PA, Correll PH, Lang CH, Zierath JR, Kirwan JP: **Muscle damage impairs insulin stimulation of IRS-1, PI 3-kinase, and Akt-kinase in human skeletal muscle**. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2000, **279**(1):E206-E212.
- 172. Koh H-J, Toyoda T, Fujii N, Jung MM, Rathod A, Middelbeek RJ-W, Lessard SJ, Treebak JT, Tsuchihara K, Esumi H: Sucrose nonfermenting AMPK-related kinase (SNARK) mediates contraction-stimulated glucose transport in mouse skeletal muscle. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2010, 107(35):15541-15546.
- 173. Sztalryd C, Kraemer FB: Differences in hormone-sensitive lipase expression in white adipose tissue from various anatomic locations of the rat. *Metabolism* 1994, **43**(2):241-247.
- 174. Sztalryd C, Xu G, Dorward H, Tansey JT, Contreras JA, Kimmel AR, Londos C: Perilipin A is essential for the translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase during lipolytic activation. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 2003, **161**(6):1093-1103.
- 175. Rose AJ, Frøsig C, Kiens B, Wojtaszewski JF, Richter EA: Effect of endurance exercise training on Ca2+–calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II expression and signalling in skeletal muscle of humans. *The Journal of physiology* 2007, **583**(2):785-795.
- 176. Deshmukh A, Coffey VG, Zhong Z, Chibalin AV, Hawley JA, Zierath JR: Exerciseinduced phosphorylation of the novel Akt substrates AS160 and filamin A in human skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 2006, **55**(6):1776-1782.
- 177. Hayashi T, Hirshman MF, Kurth EJ, Winder WW, Goodyear LJ: Evidence for 5' AMPactivated protein kinase mediation of the effect of muscle contraction on glucose transport. *Diabetes* 1998, 47(8):1369-1373.
- 178. Hardie DG. AMP-activated protein kinase: a key system mediating metabolic responses to exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sprots and Exercise* 2004, **36**(1): 28-34
- 179. Dzeja P, Terzic A. Adenylate kinase and AMP signaling networks: Metabolic monitoring, signal communication and body energy sensing. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2009, 10(4): 1729-1772
- 180. Winder WW. Energy-sensing and signaling by AMP-activated protein kinase in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Applied Phsyiology* 2001, **91**: 1017–1028, 2001.
- 181. Inaba M: Musculoskeletal Disease Associated with Diabetes Mellitus: Springer; 2016.
- 182. Hayashi T, Hirshman MF, Fujii N, HSA, Witters LA, GLJ. Metabolic stress and altered glucose transport: activation of AMP-activated protein kinase as a unifying coupling mechanism. *Diabetes* 1999, **49**: 527–531
- 183. Long YC, Zierath JR: **AMP-activated protein kinase signaling in metabolic regulation.** *The Jouranl of Clinical Investigation* 2006. **116**(7):1776-1783
- 184. Kramer HF, Witczak CA, Fujii N, Jessen N, Taylor EB, Arnolds DE, Sakamoto K, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ: Distinct signals regulate AS160 phosphorylation in response to insulin, AICAR, and contraction in mouse skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 2006, 55(7):2067-2076.

- 185. Terada S, Muraoka I, Tabata I: Changes in [Ca2+] i induced by several glucose transport-enhancing stimuli in rat epitrochlearis muscle. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 2003, 94(5):1813-1820.
- 186. Youn J, Gulve E, Holloszy J: Calcium stimulates glucose transport in skeletal muscle by a pathway independent of contraction. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology 1991, 260(3):C555-C561.
- 187. Klip A, Li G, Logan W: Role of calcium ions in insulin action on hexose transport in L6 muscle cells. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology Metabolism 1984, 247(3):E297-E304.
- 188.Lee AD, Gulve EA, Chen M, Schluter J, Holloszy J: Effects of Ca2+ ionophore ionomycin on insulin-stimulated and basal glucose transport in muscle. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative Comparative Physiology 1995, 268(4):R997-R1002.
- 189. Kegley KM, Gephart J, Warren GL, Pavlath GK: Altered primary myogenesis in NFATC3(-/-) mice leads to decreased muscle size in the adult. Dev Biol 2001, 232(1):115-126.
- 190. Talmadge RJ, Otis JS, Rittler MR, Garcia ND, Spencer SR, Lees SJ, Naya FJ: Calcineurin activation influences muscle phenotype in a muscle-specific fashion. *BMC Cell Biol* 2004, 5:28.
- 191. Naya FJ, Mercer B, Shelton J, Richardson J, Williams R, Olson E: Stimulation of Slow Skeletal Muscle Fiber Gene Expression by Calcineurin in Vivo\*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1999, 275(7):4545-4548.
- 192. Jiang LQ, Garcia-Roves PM, de Castro Barbosa T, Zierath JR: Constitutively active calcineurin in skeletal muscle increases endurance performance and mitochondrial respiratory capacity. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2010, **298**(1):E8-E16.
- 193. Chin ER: Role of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinases in skeletal muscle plasticity. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2005, 99(2):414-423.
- 194. Witczak CA, Jessen N, Warro DM, Toyoda T, Fujii N, Anderson ME, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ: CaMKII regulates contraction- but not insulin-induced glucose uptake in mouse skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2010, **298**(6):E1150-1160.
- 195. Chen H, Bandyopadhyay G, Sajan M, Kanoh Y, Standaert M, Farese RV: Activation of the ERK pathway and atypical protein kinase C isoforms in exercise- and aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-beta-D-riboside (AICAR)-stimulated glucose transport. J Biol Chem 2002, 277(26):23554-23562.
- 196. Nielsen J, Frosig C, Sajan M, Miura A, Standaert M, Graham D, Wojtaszweski J, Farese R, Richter E: Increased atypical PKC activity in endurance-trained human skeletal muscle. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 2003, **312**(1147-1153).
- 197. Widegren U, Wretman C, Lionikas A, Hedin G, Henriksson J: Influence of exercise intensity on ERK/MAP kinase signalling in human skeletal muscle. *Pflügers Archiv* 2000, 441(2-3):317-322.
- 198. Aronson D, Violan MA, Dufresne SD, Zangen D, Fielding RA, Goodyear LJ: Exercise stimulates the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in human skeletal muscle. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1997, **99**(6):1251-1257.
- 199. Widegren U, Jiang XJ, Krook A, Chibalin AV, Björnholm M, Tally M, Roth RA, Henriksson J, Wallberg-henriksson H, Zierath JR: **Divergent effects of exercise on**

**metabolic and mitogenic signaling pathways in human skeletal muscle**. *The FASEB Journal* 1998, **12**(13):1379-1389.

- 200. Musi, N., Fujii, N., Hirshman, M. F., Ekberg, I., Froberg, S., Ljungqvist, O., Thorell, A., Goodyear, L. J: AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is activated in muscle of subjects with type 2 diabetes during exercise. *Diabetes* 2001, 50(5): 921-927
- 201. Hutber CA, Hardie DG, Winder WW: Electircal stimulation inactivates muscle acetyl-CoA carboxylase and increases AMP-activated protein kinase. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism 1997, 272(2): E262-E266
- 202. Atherton PJ, Babraj J, Smith K, Singh J, Rennie MJ, Wacherhage H.: Selective activation of AMPK-PGC-1a or PKB-TSC2-mTOR signaling can explain specific adaptive responses to endurance or resistance training-like electrical muscle stimulation. *The FASEB Journal* 2005, **19**(7): 786-788, 2005
- 203. Bennett JA, Winters-Stone K, Nail LM, Scherer J. **Definitions of sedentary in physical**activity-intervention trials: a summary of the literature. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity* 2006, **14**(4): 456-77
- 204. Botter A, Oprandi G, Lanfranco F, Allasia S, Maffiuletti NA, Minetto MA: Atlas of the muscle motor points for the lower limb: implications for electrical stimulation procedures and electrode positioning. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2011, **111**(10):2461-2471.
- 205. Gobbo M, Maffiuletti NA, Orizio C, Minetto MA: Muscle motor point identification is essential for optimizing neuromuscular electrical stimulation use. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2014, 11:17.
- 206. Weiss A, Glaviano NR, Resch J, Saliba S: Reliability of a novel approach for quadriceps motor point assessment. *Muscle Nerve* 2018, **57**(1):E1-E7.
- 207. The American Diabetes Association: **Diagnosis**, 2019 [https://www.diabetes.org/a1c/diagnosis]
- 208. Yamashita S, Nakamura T, Shimomura I, Nishida M, Yoshida S, Kotani K, Kameda-Takemuara K, Tokunage K, Matsuzawa Y: **Insulin Resistance and body fat distribution**. *Diabetes Care* 1996, **19**(3): 287-291

#### Glossary

Adenosine diphosphate (ADP) Adenosine monophosphate (AMP) Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) Adenylate kinase (ADK) Akt substrate 160 (AS160) Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) American Diabetes Association (ADA) AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) Android/Gynoid ratio (A/G ratio) Aspartate aminotransferase (AST) Blood urea nitrogen (BUN) Bone mineral density (BMD) Calcium calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CAMK) Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases (CAMKKs) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) Complete blood count (CBC) Complete metabolic panel (CMP) Complete thyroid profile (CTP) Diacylcycerols (DAG) Electrical Stimulation (ES) Free thyroxine index (FTI), GDP-loaded Rab (Rab-GDP) Glucose disposal rate (GDR) Glucose transport 4 (GLUT4) Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) GTP-loaded Rab (Rab-GTP) High-density lipoprotein (HDL) Insulin receptor (IR) Insulin receptor substrate isoform (IRS-1) Long chain fatty acyl-CoA (LCFA-CoA) Low-density lipoprotein (LDL), Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) Mean corpuscular volume (MCV) Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation (NMES) Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) Phosphatidylinositiol-diphsphate (PIP2) Phosphatidylinositol-triphosphate (PIP3) Phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase (PDK). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-K) Platelet count (PC Protein kinase B (PKB) Protein kinase C (PKC) Rab-GTPase-activating protein (GAP)

Range of motion (ROM) Ras homologous from brain (Rab) Red blood cell count (RBC) Red cell distribution width (RDW) Resistance exercise training (RT) Respiratory exchange ratio (RER), Respiratory quotient (RQ), Resting metabolic rate (RMR) Sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Spinal cord injury (SCI) Thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) Thyroxine (T4) Total cholesterol (TC) Transverse tubules (T tubules) Tre-2/BUB2/cdc 1 domain family member 1 (TBC1D1) Triglycerides (TG) Tri-iodothyronine (T3) Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). T3 uptake (THBR) Very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) Waist to hip ratio (WHR) White blood cell count (WBC)

#### Vita

Michelle Galvan is a graduate student pursuing a career as an exercise physiologist in the cardiac rehabilitation field. Michelle earned a Bachelor of Science in Kinesiology from The University of Texas at El Paso (UTEP) and is earning her Master of Science in Kinesiology. During her time as a graduate student, Michelle worked as a Teaching Assistant for the Department of Kinesiology.

During her academic career Michelle received the 2018 Miners Helping Miners scholarship and the 2018 UTEP Grant for Graduates. As a research assistant under the supervision of Dr. Sudip Bajpeyi, in the Metabolic, Nutrition & Exercise Research (MiNER) Laboratory, Michelle earned several awards including the 2019 Dodson Research Grant, 2019 Sandy Tyler Endowed Fellowship, and 2019 College of Health Sciences Applied and Translational Research Fund. She was also selected as the graduate marshal of students for the College of Health Science at the 2019 Winter Commencement graduation ceremony.

Michelle plans to pursue a career in cardiac rehab to focus on providing the best exercise and education program; to help those improve their health and help recuperate from a cardiac event, heart diseases or surgery to treat heart disease.

Contact Information: mjgalvan3@miners.utep.edu This thesis was typed by Michelle Josie Galvan.